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FoReWoRd BY tHe AccountAnt 
In BAnKRuptcY And AGencY 
cHIeF eXecutIVe

During the year we delivered 
significant policy and 
legislative changes, including 
the introduction of the 
Certificate for Sequestration 
as one of the provisions of 
the Home Owner and Debtor 
Protection (Scotland) Act.  
Together with improvements 
to the Debt Arrangement 
Scheme (DAS), launched on 
1 July 2011, these measures 
have opened up debt relief 
and debt management 
options to a wider audience.  
We have seen a reduction 
in the numbers of people 
seeking debt relief through 
bankruptcy and protected 

trust deeds alongside an 
increase of 35% in uptake 
of DAS.  This indicates that 
an increasing number of 
people are recognising DAS 
as an effective means of debt 
management and that we 
are taking steps in the right 
direction to providing a full 
range of debt management 
options for the people of 
Scotland. 

We have continued to 
improve processes and make 
efficiencies in the delivery 
of our core services, which 
are measured against our 
key performance indicators.  
Positive progress, in the areas 
recognised as important to 
our stakeholders, was also 
achieved.  For example we 
have significantly reduced 
the time taken to notify 
debtors of the outcome of 
their bankruptcy applications 
and improved the process 
of adjudicating trustee’s 
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tHIs HAs Been AnotHeR BusY And 
successFul YeAR FoR AIB, tHAnKs 
to tHe dedIcAtIon And WoRK oF ouR 
stAFF, BoARd And stAKeHoldeRs. tHIs 
RepoRt descRIBes tHIs pRoGRess And 
eXplAIns HoW We HAVe peRFoRmed In 
RelAtIon to tHe tARGets We set.



accounts, resulting in quicker 
settlement time for creditors 
at the end of a bankruptcy.  
Overall, we brought down the 
unit cost of both sequestration 
and the existing DAS 
programme, the latter seeing 
a 45% decrease.

AiB’s strategy of moving 
towards a full cost recovery 
model has contributed once 
again to direct savings to the 
public purse, with 85% of 
our operating costs met by 
our service users in 2010/11.  
Aligning our fees with the 
expenses incurred through 
development and delivery  
of our services will continue 
to feature in our financial 
planning.  This approach 
has significantly reduced 
our requirement for public 
funding by 40% while ongoing 
efficiency savings contributed 
to a 5% decrease in our 
overall expenditure.  This 
will continue to be important 

in times of reduced public 
spending.  

Throughout the year we  
have proactively engaged with 
our stakeholders recognising 
that effective communication 
and dialogue with our 
customers and partners is  
key to our service delivery  
and process improvement.   
I would like to thank my staff 
and our partners for the 
hugely valuable contribution 
to our success this year.  
We will continue to work 
in partnership in the years 
ahead and seek to ensure 
we balance the needs of 
debtors and creditors by 
providing access to fair and 
just processes of debt relief 
and debt management across 
Scotland.
  
 

Rosemary Winter-Scott
the Accountant in Bankruptcy 
and Agency chief executive

6 July 2011

03

AnnuAl RepoRt And Accounts 2010/11



WHo We ARe
AccountAnt In BAnKRuptcY (AIB) Is 
An eXecutIVe AGencY oF tHe scottIsH 
GoVeRnment undeR tHe teRms oF 
tHe scotlAnd Act 1998.  tHe AGencY 
opeRAtes IndependentlY And 
ImpARtIAllY WHIle RemAInInG dIRectlY 
AccountABle to scottIsH mInIsteRs.  
tHe AccountAnt In BAnKRuptcY (tHe 
AccountAnt) Is An Independent 
stAtutoRY oFFIceR And An oFFIceR  
oF tHe couRt AppoInted undeR 
sectIon 1 oF tHe BAnKRuptcY 
(scotlAnd) Act 1985, As Amended.

ouR Role And puRpose
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the Agency  
operates independently  

and impartially while 
remaining directly  

accountable to  
scottish ministers



HIstoRY oF AIB
The history of bankruptcy is 
enshrined in legislation and 
the administration of it has 
been closely associated with 
the courts.  The Bankruptcy 
Act 1621 is the earliest 
recorded statute dealing with 
bankruptcy.  Legislation has 
developed slowly, with further 
enactments to the process 
of sequestration in 1696, 
1772, 1783, 1856 and 1913, 
reflecting social and economic 
factors over the years.

The Bankruptcy (Scotland) 
Act 1985 introduced public 
funding to underwrite 
the process where there 
were insufficient funds, or 
realisable assets, in a debtor’s 
estate to cover the costs of 
sequestration.  Legislation 
in 1993 provided that The 
Accountant in Bankruptcy, 
when appointed trustee, could 
use his own staff, or appoint 
agents, to act on his behalf. 

Accountant in Bankruptcy  
(the Agency) was established 
as an Executive Agency on  
2 April 2002.  The framework 
within which the Agency 
operates is set out in the 
Agency Framework Document 
(available on www.aib.gov.uk) 
which includes the financial 
delegations.  The Accountant  
in Bankruptcy (The Accountant) 
is also the Agency’s Chief 
Executive appointed by  
Scottish Ministers. 

Scottish Ministers delegated 
functions under the Debt 
Arrangement and Attachment 
(Scotland) Act 2002 to The 
Accountant who was appointed 
the Debt Arrangement Scheme 
(DAS) administrator.  The Debt 
Arrangement Scheme became 
operational on 30 November 
2004.  Changes to the DAS 
scheme came into effect on  
30 June 2007, introducing a 
‘stop’ on creditor enforcement 
action and a freeze on interest. 

The Bankruptcy and Diligence 
etc. (Scotland) Act 2007 (‘the 
2007 Act’) made further 
amendments to the 1985 Act 
by reforming and modernising 
the process of bankruptcy.  To 
facilitate the commencement 
of these provisions, the formal 
responsibility for supporting 
Scottish Ministers in the 
development of bankruptcy 
policy in Scotland transferred 
to The Accountant from the 
Justice Directorate.  Under 
the 2007 Act the Agency 
was given responsibility for 
the adjudication of debtor 
applications for bankruptcy 
from 1 April 2008.

In 2010 further amendments 
to the 1985 Act were made 
through part 2 of the Home 
Owner and Debtor Protection 
(Scotland) Act 2010 which 
introduced a new certificated 
route into bankruptcy and 
increased debtor protections.
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WHAt We do
AIB’s mIssIon Is to ensuRe Access to FAIR And Just 
pRocesses oF deBt RelIeF And deBt mAnAGement FoR tHe 
people oF scotlAnd, WHIcH tAKes Account oF tHe RIGHts 
And InteRests oF tHose InVolVed.

The Scottish Government’s 
purpose is to focus 
government and public 
services on creating a 
more successful country 
with opportunities for all of 
Scotland to flourish, through 
increasing sustainable 
economic growth.

The government’s purpose is 
delivered through 7 Purpose 
Targets, supported by 5 
Strategic Objectives with 15 
National Outcomes as the 
clear and consistent set of 
priorities across government 
and its agencies.  Together 
with 45 National Indicators 
and targets, activity and 
contributions are directed 
towards the single overarching 
purpose.  The national 
performance Framework 
[http://www.scotland.gov.
uk/About/scotperforms] 
demonstrates the Scottish 
Government’s route to 
achievement of its purpose.

As an Executive Agency, AiB 
shares the outcome-focused 
approach to performance, 
demonstrating alignment 
with the national priorities 
by helping to deliver on the 
following National Outcomes:

•  We realise our full 
economic potential 
with more and better 
employment opportunities 
for our people (Outcome 2)

•  We have tackled the 
significant inequalities in 
Scottish society (Outcome 7)

•  We have strong, 
resilient and supportive 
communities where people 
take responsibility for their 
own actions and how they 
affect others (Outcome 11)

•  We reduce the local and 
global environmental impact 
of our consumption and 
production (Outcome 14)

•  Our public services are 
high quality, continually 
improving, efficient and 
responsive to local people’s 
needs (Outcome 15)
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We WIll AcHIeVe delIVeRY oF tHese 
outcomes tHRouGH tHe FolloWInG 
KeY FunctIons, WHIlst RecoGnIsInG 
ouR unIque stAtutoRY Role:

•  suppoRtInG mInIsteRs to deVelop 
And ReFIne polIcY

•  supeRVIsInG tHe InsolVencY 
pRocess

•  delIVeRInG, WItH stAKeHoldeRs, 
A RAnGe oF optIons FoR IndIVIduAls 
seeKInG deBt RelIeF And deBt 
mAnAGement

•  delIVeRInG Best VAlue seRVIces 
to ouR customeRs
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the scottish  
Government’s purpose  

is to focus government and 
public services on creating  

a more successful  
country
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AIB’s peRFoRmAnce 
FRAmeWoRK:
tHe AGencY meAsuRes 
Its peRFoRmAnce 
AGAInst AcHIeVement oF 
Its AGReed oBJectIVes 
detAIled In tHe AnnuAl 
BusIness plAns 
And BencHmARKed 
stAndARds oF AIB’s coRe 
seRVIce delIVeRY.  

SG
PURPOSE

NATIONAL
OUTCOMES

KEY FUNCTIONS

AiB BUSINESS PLAN

BRANCH PLAN

EMPLOYEE OBJECTIVES

KPIs KPIs

ouR VAlues
We WIll ensuRe tHAt 
ouR ActIVItIes ARe:

•  Independent;

•  ResponsIVe;

•  AccountABle; 

•  tRAnspARent;

•  FAIR; And

•  open
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to ensuRe Access to FAIR 
And Just pRocesses oF deBt 
RelIeF And deBt mAnAGement 
FoR tHe people oF scotlAnd, 
WHIcH tAKes Account oF tHe 
RIGHts And InteRests oF 
tHose InVolVed.

AIB’s mIssIon



KeY ActIVItIes

ouR KeY FunctIons cAn Be FuRtHeR 
deFIned As lIsted BeloW:

supporting ministers to 
develop and refine policy by:

•  developing policy for 
personal and corporate 
insolvency and diligence  
in Scotland

•  developing policy for the 
Debt Arrangement Scheme 
(DAS)

supervising the insolvency 
process by:

•  supervising the regulation 
of the bankruptcy 
process including the 
performance of trustees 
and commissioners in the 
exercise of their statutory 
duty

•  regulating and supervising 
the registration and 
administration of Protected 
Trust Deeds (PTDs), 
including the performance 
of trustees

•  investigating and applying 
for Bankruptcy Restriction 
Orders or agreeing 
Bankruptcy Restriction 
Undertakings (BRO/BRU)

•  maintaining a public 
Register of Insolvencies 
(ROI), which records details 
of bankruptcies, awarded by 
the Scottish courts or by the 
Agency, and PTDs

•  maintaining a record of, 
BROs and BRUs as well as 
company insolvencies on 
the ROI

•  registering company 
insolvency documents 
required to be filed by 
receivers and liquidators  
in terms of the Insolvency 
Act 1986

delivering, with stakeholders, 
a range of options for 
individuals seeking debt relief 
and debt management by:

•  determining debtor 
applications for bankruptcy

•  acting as trustee in all 
bankruptcies awarded by 
the Agency, where The 
Accountant does not appoint 
a person to be the trustee

•  acting as trustee in all 
bankruptcies awarded by 

the Sheriff courts, where a 
Sheriff does not appoint a 
named person to be trustee

•  acting as interim trustee 
before the award of 
bankruptcy except in those 
cases where an alternative 
interim trustee is appointed 
when nominated by the 
petitioning creditor

•  acting as trustee as 
appointed by the Sheriff on 
the resignation or death of 
the original trustee where 
no new trustee is elected

•  undertaking the functions 
of the commissioners in 
bankruptcies where none 
are elected by creditors

•  approving Debt Payment 
Programmes (DPPs) and 
approving money advisers

•  maintaining the DAS register

delivering best value services 
to customers by:

•  reducing the requirement 
for public funding

•  embedding efficient 
systems and processes
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tHe YeAR In Focus

polIcY 
deVelopment
Following Royal Assent in 
March 2010, part 2 of the Home 
Owner and Debtor Protection 
(Scotland) Act (HODP) with 
supporting Regulations, came
into force on 15 November 2010.
HODP introduced a number 
of important changes, the two 
most significant being the 
introduction of the Certificate 
for Sequestration and the 
option for the debtor’s main 
dwelling house to be excluded 
from Protected Trust Deeds. 
The primary purpose of the 
Certificate for Sequestration is 
a new route in to bankruptcy 
for those who were previously 
ineligible but cannot meet their 
debts as they become due.

A short-life working group, 
involving key partners in 
insolvency and creditor 
organisations, has been 
examining issues associated 
with Protected Trust Deeds 
(PTDs) and the group 
have taken forward the 
development of a preferred 

best practice guidance 
document.  The aim is to 
provide clear guidance to 
all those involved in PTDs, 
and the draft is the result 
of extensive discussion with 
all interested parties.  It 
addresses issues such as 
the treatment of equity, 
remuneration of Insolvency 
Practitioners and the 
arrangements for paying 
dividends to creditors. The 
draft will be issued for full 
public consultation subject  
to the approval of Ministers.  

Significant effort has been 
given to developing policy 
in relation to the Debt 
Arrangement Scheme (DAS).  
We have worked in close 
partnership with the money 
advice sector across Scotland 
to develop a revised scheme 
that can be accessed by more 
people in need.  The Scottish 
Parliament approved the 
regulations in March 2011, 
paving the way for the launch 
of the new scheme on 1 July 
2011.  The new, improved DAS 
will benefit from a wider pool 

of money advisers, meaning 
that people across Scotland, 
no matter where they live, 
will be able to access a DAS 
approved money adviser.  In 
addition, the new scheme 
allows couples with joint 
debt to apply for a joint Debt 
Payment Programme and 
individuals with a single debt, 
not previously eligible for DAS, 
will now be able to access 
the scheme.  The launch of 
DAS will be supported by 
a new website and a range 
of targeted publications.  
Arrangements have also 
been put in place to secure 
a panel of approved payment 
distributors before the 
scheme is launched.  

Improving our stakeholder 
engagement has been a key 
priority during this year.  For 
the first time, AiB hosted 
a series of stakeholder 
events across the country.  
The events, which were 
received very positively by 
all who attended, afforded 
the opportunity to discuss 
topical issues, including DAS, 



the treatment of the family 
home in bankruptcy, PTD 
best practice and corporate 
insolvency.  We are committed 
to continuing to engage with 
our partner organisations in 
this way and similar events 
will be planned for 2011/12.  

We have taken forward work 
to modernise the Scottish 
Rules, the regulations 
applicable to corporate 
insolvency in Scotland.  This 
work has not progressed 
to a conclusion as the UK 
Government has introduced 
its Scotland Bill to Parliament 
which seeks to re-reserve 
corporate insolvency.  We have 
been working closely with 
stakeholders across Scotland 
and with the UK Insolvency 
Service to ensure that 
Scotland’s needs are  
fully taken into account during 
the Parliamentary process  
of the Bill.  

Recognising the important 
role of AiB when acting as 
trustee in bankruptcy, a 
new Operational Policy and 

Compliance team was created 
in November 2010.  The team 
plays a key role in ensuring 
that legislative and policy 
changes are understood, put 
into practice and supported 
by clear guidance.  Over the 
coming year the Operational 
Policy and Compliance team 
will further improve our 
supervision of the bankruptcy 
process through the 
development of compliance 
and quality assurance 
monitoring.  As part of our 
drive to strengthen our 
governance arrangements, 
a new independent sub 
committee of our Board 
has been established.  The 
Policy and Cases Committee 
considers complex or 
challenging issues of policy 
or relating to individual cases, 
where assurance on our 
action as Trustee is required.  

delIVeRY oF  
tHe seRVIce
The regulations introduced 
by HODP brought about 
important changes to the 

debtor bankruptcy application 
process in relation to evidence 
provision, removing the 
statutory Form 17 declaration.  
The changes improved the 
robustness of the application 
process from the outset giving 
greater assurance in the 
interest of the wider public.  
We worked in partnership 
with the advice sector to 
produce guidance, smoothing 
the transition to the new 
process which now requires 
full supporting evidence 
to be submitted along with 
bankruptcy applications.  As  
a result of the new processes, 
average clearance times 
for debtor bankruptcy 
applications reduced from 
6.3 days at the end of the first 
quarter of 2010/11 to 4.9 days 
in the fourth quarter, and 
contributing to a successful 
result for our relevant key 
performance indicator.

The new Certificate for 
Sequestration process was 
also incorporated successfully 
and since its introduction, 
there have been 654 
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applications for bankruptcy 
through the certificated 
route ensuring debt relief is 
available to those involved.  

Intensive consultation 
with stakeholders 
identified requirements 
for enhancements to the 
Register of Insolvencies (RoI) 
in preparation for the removal 
of the statutory requirement 
to advertise bankruptcy 
information in the Edinburgh 
Gazette.  Free access to the 
on-line search facility of the 
RoI was introduced along with 
a new bulk data download 
facility for commercial users 
who wish to subscribe to  
the service.

2010/11 represented the 
second full year of the current 
Framework for Insolvency 
Services, the method by which 
the Agency contracts out 
cases to be managed on its 
behalf.  The firms appointed 
to the Framework are now 
managing almost 7,000 
cases where The Accountant 
in Bankruptcy is trustee.  

Through the improved 
contract arrangements we 
are able to demonstrate major 
savings of around £1.3m as 
the Agency’s contribution 
to the Scottish Government 
Efficient Government 
programme. 

suppoRtInG tHe 
BusIness And ouR 
customeRs
A major development 
in the Framework for 
Insolvency Services was the 
introduction of the on-line 
web portal which enables 
our contracted providers to 
exchange information with 
us in a secure electronic 
format. This development 
meets our commitment to 
modernise our out-sourced 
insolvency services, improving 
our relationship, contract 
management and efficiency of 
the contract.  We are currently 
looking at how we can 
maximise this technology.

Building on our commitment 
to procure and manage our 

external suppliers better,  
this year also saw the renewal 
of our contract for Sheriff 
Officers.  The process for 
procurement is now well 
embedded, delivering service 
and quality improvements for 
the Agency.

The Agency remains 
committed to take advantage 
of shared service and 
procurement opportunities 
across the Scottish 
Government for the benefit 
of our customers and the 
public purse.  We therefore 
progressed a number of 
opportunities this year, 
moving to a shared managed 
security arrangement for our 
premises, which will result 
in savings of over £50k in 
2011/12.  

These savings are vital to 
an efficient, accountable 
organisation as we continue 
our long-term commitment to 
reduce the cost of bankruptcy 
on the public purse. This 
year the Agency drew £2.1m 
(19% of our total operating 
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expenditure) from government 
funding with the remaining 
costs met directly by our 
service users.

This shift in funding 
emphasises our need – 
and our Business Plan 
commitment – to improve our 
engagement with external 
stakeholders and this has 
been built into many of our 
work-streams this year.  
For example our Business 
Planning process reached 
out and included, for the first 
time, representatives of our 
stakeholders in the process 
of forming our key objectives.  
The cross Scotland series of 
stakeholder events attracted 
a diverse audience and the 
Glasgow event was recorded, 
resulting in another first; 
audio content from the  
event is on our website – 
www.aib.gov.uk. This is part 
of our wider strategy to use 
our website to increase both 
business and engagement 
activity. 

ReseARcH And 
FutuRe BusIness 
deVelopment
The Agency aims to keep 
abreast of all technical 
innovation, products and 
system developments which 
can improve our service 
delivery.  We publish an 
Information System Strategy 
aimed at ensuring the most 
efficient delivery of its 
services.  Building on our 
previous 3-year managed 
service agreement, we 
extended our strategic ICT 
partnership with the Scottish 
Government’s Information 
Services and Information 
Systems division (ISIS) and  
in doing so demonstrated 
further service improvements 
and efficiencies.

The facilities for secure 
exchange of information with 
our Insolvency Framework 
providers were further 
enhanced with the introduction 
of the on-line web portal as 
described above.  The portal 
was fully ‘penetration tested’ 

to ensure it meets appropriate 
security standards. We will 
continue to explore options 
for expanding the portal to 
enable the secure transfer 
of information with our 
stakeholders. 

The technology for the 
web portal will also form 
the platform for the 
development of the new Debt 
Arrangement Scheme case 
management system and for 
re-development of our main 
case management system for 
insolvency. 

Major projects continue to be 
managed through the Agency’s 
formal Change Programme to 
ensure best practice in project 
management and with ISIS as 
our ICT partner for compliance 
with appropriate development 
standards.  Projects delivered 
or planned in partnership with 
ISIS include:

•  Further updates to 
improve the stability and 
functionality of our main 
case management system
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•  Improvements to the 
Register of Insolvencies 
(RoI) to improve access and 
the information available

•  Enhancing information 
security and ensure all 
laptops are protected with 
encryption software

•  Upgrading our network link 
form 10Mb to 100Mb.  This 
represents a substantial 
increase in the network 
bandwidth available to 
the Agency which should 
improve access times to 
SG corporate systems. This 
has been introduced by 
ISIS and has reduced the 
Agency’s running costs

•  Working towards an Agency 
e-requisitioning system 
to improve our delegated 
procurement

•  Upgrading our video-
conferencing facilities 
to save resources 
and contribute to our 
environmental plan

The Annual Business Plan 
2011/12 sets out all the key 
objectives for the Agency and 
is available on the Agency’s 
website.  The Corporate Plan 
for 2012-15 will be developed 
during 2011/12 in partnership 
with our key stakeholders and 
will set out the strategic goals 
for the Agency until 2015.  It 
too will be published on our 
website when completed.

Rosemary Winter-Scott
Accountable officer

6 July 2011
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KpI 1 – to AdJudIcAte And InFoRm tHe outcome oF deBtoR 
ApplIcAtIons on ReceIpt oF All ReleVAnt InFoRmAtIon

AiB recognises a prompt 
response on the outcome 
of an application is very 
important to our customers as 
this will have a major impact 
on their financial future. This 
indicator measures the time 
taken to notify a debtor of a 
bankruptcy award.

At the beginning of the year, 
the timescale for informing 
debtors of the outcome of 
their applications was 6.3 
days.  Following a number 
of improvements to the 
Debtor Application process 
as a result of the Home 
Owner and Debtor Protection 

(Scotland) Act 2010, including 
the removal of Form 17, this 
timescale has been reduced 
significantly to 4.9 days at the 
end of the year.

Having finally taken  
the huge step of applying  

for bankruptcy, debtors want the  
process to be as fast and efficient  
as possible, as this helps take the 

pressure off.  AiB’s performance in 
reducing the processing and therefore 

waiting time for applicants is a  
key element of their service delivery  

and is to be commended.

Yvonne macdermid, oBe,  
chief executive,  

money Advice scotland

KeY peRFoRmAnce 
IndIcAtoRs
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KpI 2 – to IncReAse tHe peRcentAGe oF cAses WHeRe 
A dIVIdend Is pAId out to cRedItoRs

AiB has a statutory duty 
to maximise the return 
to creditors.  Information 
indicates the level of dividend 
is predominantly driven by 
the economic conditions 
and environment in which 
cases are determined.  The 
majority of cases where AiB 
is the Trustee are those with 
little disposable income, 
which impacts on AiB’s 
ability to influence ongoing 

improvement in the rate of 
return.  This KPI focuses 
its staff and providers on, 
for example, contributions 
and changing our working 
practices so we can influence 
an overall increase in the 
percentage figure of cases 
where a dividend is paid.

Although ending the last 
quarter of 2010/11 at 14.65% 
of cases producing a dividend 

to creditors, the average over 
the year has seen a slight 
drop from 13.2% of cases in 
2009/10 to 10.6%.  We have 
introduced a number of new 
processes, such as direct 
telephone payment procedure 
and greater use of Sheriff 
Officers, where required, 
to improve on our dividend 
payment performance over 
the coming years.

It is heartening to see  
that the AIB recognises that  
the process of bankruptcy is  

a delicate balance between the  
interests of debtors and creditors.  

Whilst, quite rightly, the rehabilitation 
of the debtor remains central to the 

bankruptcy process, the AIB is working 
hard to ensure that, where appropriate, 
debtors are making a fair contribution  

to the repayment of their debts.

mike norris, director,  
max Recovery 
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KpI 3 – to pRomptlY deteRmIne Accounts on ReceIpt oF 
All ReleVAnt InFoRmAtIon FRom tRustees

It is important for creditors 
and other stakeholders that 
accounts are determined 
accurately and quickly as 
the determination provides 
the authority to pay any fees, 
outlays and dividends that  
are due.

The introduction of AiB’s 
web portal functionality in 
December 2010 has helped 
improve our process for 
receiving and determining 
some bankruptcy accounts 
during 2010/11 by reducing 
the amount of time AiB 
staff require to determine 
accounts.

The average accounts 
determination time has 
reduced from 11.1 days 
in 2009/10, to 7.25 days 
in 2010/11.  We will be 
investigating if we can extend 
the use of the Web Portal  
to receive other accounts  
in 2011/12.

KpI 4 – to AdJudIcAte And InFoRm tHe Result oF tHe deBt 
ARRAnGements scHeme ApplIcAtIons on ReceIpt oF All 
ReleVAnt InFoRmAtIon

This indicator was introduced 
to ensure applications for 
Debt Payment Programmes 
(DPPs) are processed and 
customers are advised of 
the outcome promptly to 
protect them from diligence 
and enable them to set up 
repayments to creditors.  

Figures for the start of the 
year amounted to 2.8 days and 
by 31 March 2011 had reduced 
to 2.4 days.  This decrease in 
process time is noteworthy 
given the increase in volume 
of DPPs by 35% on last year.

AnnuAl RepoRt And Accounts 2010/11
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KpI 5 – to ImpRoVe customeR eXpeRIence

In seeking to reduce the cost 
of its services to the public 
purse, AiB’s service users – our 
customers – are increasingly 
covering the cost of the 
Agency.  AiB recognises the 
need to focus on and improve 
service delivery, monitoring 
and evaluation performance 
through customer feedback.

In October 2009 a customer 
service survey was carried 
out resulting in an overall 
satisfaction rating of 93%.  
The nature of the score left 
little room for investigation 
of areas for improvement.  
In consultation with our 
stakeholders, we decided 
to look for a way to identify 

specific areas for development 
through a process of more 
regularly gathered feedback.  
Work has begun to explore how 
we can best obtain evaluation 
of the service we deliver across 
the range of AiB’s service  
users throughout the period  
of a customer’s contact with  
the Agency.  

KpI 6 – to ImpRoVe emploYee enGAGement WItHIn tHe AGencY

Evidence shows that engaged 
employees are far more 
committed and productive 
to improved service delivery.  
To measure performance 
against this indicator, AiB 
takes part annually in the 
UK Civil Service Employee 
Engagement Survey, a survey 
measuring the attitudes and 
opinions of Civil Servants 
across the UK.  Taking 
part allows the Agency to 

benchmark itself against the 
other 95 participating UK 
Departments and Agencies.  

The Agency scored an overall 
Employee Engagement Score 
of 63%.  While the score fell 
slightly this year in absolute 
terms, the Agency scores 
7% higher than the Civil 
Service average engagement 
score, placing the Agency 
in the top quartile of all the 

organisations that took part in 
the survey.  This is a welcome 
result given the uncertain 
landscape of the public sector.   
However, in recognition that 
we can do even better, we 
have developed action plans 
designed to ensure employee 
engagement continues to 
underpin the delivery of the 
Agency’s objectives.
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KpI 7 – to Reduce tHe unIt cost oF sequestRAtIon

This KPI focuses on achieving 
efficiency savings in the use of 
staff and resources for cases 
where The Accountant in 
Bankruptcy is trustee, helping 
AiB to reduce the impact of its 
service delivery on the public 
purse. The indicator excludes 
Low Income Low Asset cases.

In 2010/11 there has been  
a 5% drop in the unit cost of 
sequestration from £1,688 in 
2009/10  to £1,605 in 2010/11.  
This has primarily been driven 
by the efficiencies now feeding 
through from improved 
contracts with key suppliers 
involved in the sequestration 
process.

KpI 8 – to Reduce tHe unIt cost oF tHe deBt ARRAnGement 
scHeme (dAs)

This indicator measures 
the unit cost of processing 
each DAS application and 
Debt Payment Programme, 
aiming to reduce the cost of 
managing the scheme.  The 
unit cost is the gross cost of 
administering DAS and does 
not include contributions  
paid by debtors towards their 
Debt Payment Programmes.

In 2010/11 the unit cost of 
administering DAS decreased 
by 45% from £58 to £32.   
Over the same period the 
number of Debt Payment 
Programmes has increased 
by 35% on the previous year.  
Improvements to processes 
and improved efficiencies  
have meant we have been  
able to keep increase in  

costs to a minimum and 
combined with the increase  
in volume has resulted in a 
drop in the unit cost.
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stAtIstIcAl InFoRmAtIon

tHe FolloWInG tABles pRoVIde stAtIstIcAl InFoRmAtIon 
FoR 2010/11 And HIstoRIcAl compARIsons WItH tHe 
pReVIous YeAR oR 5 YeARs In RelAtIon to sequestRAtIons 
AWARded, pRotected tRust deeds ReGIsteRed, coRpoRAte 
InsolVencIes And tHe deBt ARRAnGement scHeme.  

For full explanation of some of the bankruptcy related terms detailed in the following section 
please refer to the glossary of terms available on AiB’s website.
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sectIon 1 – sequestRAtIons AWARded And ptds 
ReGIsteRed BY YeAR
1.1 sequestRAtIons AWARded And pRotected tRust deeds (ptds) 
ReGIsteRed 2006-2011

Year sequestrations Awarded protected trust deeds Registered
2006/07 5,885 8,298
2007/08 6,158 7,509
2008/09 14,777 7,633
2009/10 13,810 9,188
2010/11 11,443 7,980

The above shows the number 
of sequestrations awarded 
and Protected Trust Deeds 
(PTDs) registered since 
2005.  Sequestration is the 
process of making someone 
bankrupt by ingathering their 
assets and passing them to a 

trustee for the benefit of the 
bankrupt’s creditors.

The table shows a 17% 
reduction in the number of 
sequestrations awarded and 
13% drop in PTDs registered 
in 2010/11.  It should be noted 

that in 2008/09 following 
the introduction of revised 
legislation to widen access 
to bankruptcy, there was a 
significant increase in the 
number of sequestrations 
awarded in 2008/09.
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1.2 sequestRAtIon AWARds And pRotected tRust deed (ptd) 
ReGIstRAtIons BY quARteR 2010/11

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 2010/11 2009/10
Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar total Total

Awards of 
sequestration 
by Petition 
Type

Debtor 
Applications

2,500 2,224 1,933 2,173 8,830 10,854

Creditor 
Petitions

567 762 493 456 2,278 2,543

Trustee 
Petitions 

78 113 75 69 335 413

total Awards 3,145 3,099 2,501 2,698 11,443 13,810
Protected Trust Deeds 
Recorded

2,239 2,076 2,090 1,575 7,980 9,180

 

The above shows a further 
breakdown in the volume 
of sequestration awards 
and PTDs by quarter during 
2010/11, also indicating the 
process followed towards 

award of sequestration.   
The route in to bankruptcy 
has been categorised by 
those applications made by 
the debtors themselves to 
the Accountant in Bankruptcy 

(Debtor Applications), the 
application to the court by 
a creditor to pursue the 
sequestration of a debtor 
(creditor petition) and those 
cases where the trustee of 
a trust deed has applied to 
the court for the debtor’s 
sequestration where the 
trust deed has failed (trustee 
petitions).  

The figures show a decrease 
of around 18% for both debtor 
applications and trustee 
petitions, and a 10% drop in 
creditor petitions contributing 
to the overall 17% reduction 
in sequestration awards in 
2010/11. 

Application Type

Debtor Applications received 2009-2011
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1.3 dIstRIButIon oF tRustee AppoIntments In sequestRAtIon AWARds 
In tHe YeAR to 31 mARcH 2011

Appointment of trustee  
(a) the Accountant in Bankruptcy

2010/11 2009/10 % change
Appointments arising from: 

Debtor Applications AiB as Trustee 7,820 10,006 -21.8%

Creditor Petitions AiB as Trustee 1,907 2,072 -8.0%

Trustees Under Trust Deeds AiB as Trustee 291 376 -22.6%

total: 10,018 12,454 -19.6%

Appointment of trustee  
(b) Insolvency practitioners

2010/11 2009/10 % change
Appointments arising from: 

Debtor Applications IP as Trustee 1,010 848 19.1%

Creditor Petitions IP as Trustee 371 471 -21.2%

Trustees Under Trust Deeds IP as Trustee 44 37 18.9%

total: 1,425 1,356 5.1%

The above shows the 
distribution of sequestration 
cases allocated in the  
year to 31 March 2010/11.   
In comparison with 2009/10 
sequestration awards where 
AiB was the appointed 
trustee dropped by 20% and 
those where an Insolvency 
Practitioner was the 
nominated trustee increased 
by 5%.

Distribution of Trustee appointments 
in Sequestration Awards 2010/11

Debtor Applications AiB as Trustee

Creditor Petitions AiB as Trustee

Trustees Under Trust Deeds AiB 
as Trustee

Debtor Applications IP as Trustee

Creditor Petitions IP as Trustee

68%

3%9%
3%

17%
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1.4 deBtoR ApplIcAtIons ReceIVed BY AIB In tHe YeAR to 31 mARcH 2011

 2010/11 2009/10 % change
Applications Received 9,331 11,531 -19.1%
Applications Returned 194 226 -14.2%
Rejections 457 571 -20.0%
Apparent Insolvency Awards 2,090 2,457 -14.9%
LILA Awards 6,086 8,397 -27.5%
*Certificate for Sequestration 654 – –

*Certificate for Sequestration introduced on 15 November 2010 as part of the Home Owner and 
Debtor Protection (Scotland) Act 2010.

The above shows the 
breakdown of applications 
made by debtors to AiB in 
2010/11.  Debtor applications 
for bankruptcy can be further 
subdivided into awards for 
Apparent Insolvency, where 
a debtor is unable to meet 
his or her debts when they 

fall due and Low Income Low 
Asset (LILA) awards are where 
the debtor meets additional 
criteria.  The Certificate for 
Sequestration award was 
introduced on 15 November 
2010 to provide a further route 
in to bankruptcy for those 
who previously did not meet 

criteria to apply for their own 
bankruptcy.  The information 
shows a reduction of almost 
28% in the applications 
awarded under the LILA 
criteria and a 15% drop in 
Apparent Insolvency awards  
in 2010/11.

Apparent Insolvency 
Awards 

LILA Awards * Certificate 
for Sequestration 
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1.5 BAnKRuptcY RestRIctIon oRdeRs And BAnKRuptcY RestRIctIon 
undeRtAKInGs

2010/11 2009/10 % change

Bankruptcy Restriction Undertakings accepted 19 11 72.7%

Bankruptcy Restriction Orders granted 4 1 300.0%

Interim Bankruptcy Restriction Orders granted 2 1 100.0%

Bankruptcy Restriction Order applications pending  
at year end

2 0  

Bankruptcy Restriction Orders 
(BROs) and Bankruptcy 
Undertakings (BRUs) were 
introduced by The Bankruptcy 
(Scotland) Act 1985, as 
amended, and came in to 
force on 1 April 2008.  These 
measures provide a level 
of protection to businesses 
and consumers to bring 
debtors in to line when their 

behaviour and conduct has 
either before or during their 
bankruptcy been dishonest 
or blameworthy in some way.  
BRUs are entered into with the 
cooperation of a debtor and 
BROs require an application 
through the court.  

This appendix shows the 
number and breakdown for 
2010/11 and the previous year 
indicating an overall increase 
of BROs (300%) and BRUs 
(72.7%).
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sectIon 2 - sequestRAtIons And ptds dIscHARGed BY YeAR
2.1 totAl numBeR oF sequestRAtIon And ptd cAses WHeRe tHe tRustee 
HAs Been dIscHARGed

Year sequestrations protected trust deeds
2006/07 3,325 5,490
2007/08 3,569 6,250
2008/09 5,748 6,166
2009/10 15,764 6,944
2010/11 16,887 7,387

The above shows the number 
of sequestrations and PTDs 
discharged during 2010/11 
and the previous 5 years.  The 
figures for cases discharged 
indicate an increase of 7%  
for sequestrations and 6%  
for PTDs.  

Sequestration cases have a 
life span from award until 
discharge, which since 1 April 
2008 has, in most instances, 

reduced to 1 year for new 
awards.  The period for case 
duration is reflected above in 
the relevant rise in discharges 
in 2009/10 as the first that 
the 1-year discharge cases, 
shown in 1.1, were processed.  

When the trustee in a 
sequestration or PTD case 
is discharged, any funds 
gathered in respect of 
debts are divided among 

the creditors depending on 
the type of debt included in 
the bankruptcy.  Secured 
debt is voluntarily secured 
on property by creating a 
standard security over the 
property.  Preferred debt is 
payable before other debts in 
a bankruptcy, trust deed, or 
the winding up of a company.  
It should be noted that 
revisions to the legislation 
in September 2003 removed 
the option for a preference to 
be noted on any debt other 
than secured debt.  Ordinary 
debt is any other type that 
is not preferred or secured.  
The distribution of dividends 
payable at the conclusion of 
sequestration and PTD cases 
is now shown.
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The above details the 
sequestration awards 
concluded during 2010/11 
and the dividend outcome of 

the discharged cases.  There 
are 6 cases remaining in 
dependence not noted in these 
figures, which were awarded 

under the 1913 Bankruptcy 
Act with no obligation for 
the case to be discharged.  
Legislation requiring that 
discharge be applied for came 
in to force with 1985 Act.

The figures show an increase 
of 20% in the number of cases 
concluded with no dividend 
payment to creditors and a 
4% increase in dividends to 
ordinary creditors.  There 
was a 65% reduction in the 
dividends paid to preferred 
creditors only. 
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2.2 sequestRAtIons AWARded And concluded As At 31 mARcH 2011 In 
teRms oF tHe BAnKRuptcY (scotlAnd) Act 1985 And In dependence 
duRInG tHe YeAR ended 31 mARcH 2011

2010/11 2009/10 % change

In Dependence at start of year (live cases) 28,194 30,148 -6%

New Awards 11,443 13,810 -17%

total cases in-year: 39,637 43,958 -10%
less:

Recalls/Disposals/Discharges (119) (158) -25%

sequestrations concluded by discharge of the 
permanent trustee in which:

   

No Dividend was payable to Creditors (8,464) (7,026) 20%

Dividend payable to Preferred Creditors Only (07) (20) -65%

Dividend payable to Ordinary Creditors (1,419) (1,364) 4%

Discharged LILA cases (6,878) (7,196) -4%

total concluded: (16,887) (15,764) 7%
cases in dependence at 31 march 22,750 28,194 -19%

Division of funds in Sequestration cases 2010/11

No Dividend was payable 
to Creditors

Dividend payable 
to Ordinary Creditors

86%

14%
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2.3 Results oF sequestRAtIons Wound up BY dIVIsIon oF Funds 
FolloWInG tHe tRustee’s dIscHARGe duRInG tHe YeAR ended  
31 mARcH 2011

dividend payable to: 2010/11 2009/10 % change 
preferred Creditors Only 7 20 -65.0%
ordinary Creditors:    
Less than 25p per £ 608 587 3.6%
Between 25p and 50p per £ 211 164 28.7%
Between 50p and 75p per £ 130 138 -5.8%
Between 75p and 99p per £ 103 100 3.0%
100p per £ plus interest 371 375 -1.1%
sub-total: 1,423 1,364 4.3%
total: 1,430 1,384 3.3%

The above shows details of 
cases wound up by the division 
of funds following a trustee’s 
discharge during 2010/11.  The 
figures show 43% of dividends 
are paid at less than 25 pence 

in the pound and 26% paid at 
100 pence in the pound.

The Accountant in Bankruptcy 
may not seek her appointment 
as trustee in sequestrations 

in Scotland, but by default, 
or specific nomination by 
creditors, she is appointed 
as trustee in 90% of 
sequestrations awarded in 
Scotland.  This appointment 
by default means that she is 
regularly appointed as trustee 
in sequestrations where the 
debtor has few or no assets or 
income from which sufficient 
funds can be in-gathered to 
enable her to pay a dividend  
to creditors.  
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Distribution of dividends payable in PTDs 
concluded during 2009-2011
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2.4 pRotected tRust deeds ReGIsteRed And concluded As At 31 mARcH 
2011 In teRms oF scHedule 5 oF tHe BAnKRuptcY (scotlAnd) Act 1985

2010/11 2009/10 % change 
Number of Protected Trust Deeds  
recorded in the Register of Insolvencies  
up to preceding 31 March

31,276 29,058 7.6%

PTDs registered during year 7,980 9,188 -13.1%
less concluded:    

PTDs where no dividend payable to  
Ordinary Creditors 

(2,678) (2,348) 14.1%

PTDs where dividend payable to  
Ordinary Creditors 

(4,709) (4,622) 1.9%

total concluded: (7,387) (6,970) 6.0%
PTDs remaining open on 31 March 31,869 31,276 1.9%

The above indicates the 
outcome of sequestration 
cases when the permanent 
trustee was discharged and 
the distribution of dividends 
payable to Ordinary Creditors. 
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2.5 compARIson oF dIVIdend outcomes BetWeen pRIVAte sectoR 
tRustees And AIB WHen ActInG As tRustee

private sector trustees AiB as trustee
2010/11 2009/10 2010/11 2009/10

Cases concluded 
by permanent 
trustee discharge 

1,329 1,085 8,680 7,483

Cases concluded 
with dividend 
payable to 
preferred or 
ordinary creditors

364 (27%) 392 (36%) 1,062 (12%) 992 (13%)

Cases concluded 
with no dividend 
to any class of 
creditor

965 (73%) 693 (64%) 7,618 (88%) 6,491 (87%)

Average Dividend 52.7p in £ Not Available 56.5p in £ Not Available

The table and graph above 
show the performance of 
PTDs detailing performance 

in relation to cases that have 
been discharged during 
2010/11 and in comparison 

to the previous year.  For the 
year ending 31 March 2011, 
36% of cases were closed 
with no dividend payable to 
creditors and 64% with a 
dividend payable.  The second 
table further details the 
division of dividends payable 
demonstrating that from 
the sums allocated at the 
conclusion of a PTD 48% was 
paid to creditors and 52% was 
utilised to meet administration 
expenses.

Trustees/Years

Distribution of dividends payable in 
sequestration cases 2009-11
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2.6 pRotected tRust deeds (ptds) concluded duRInG 2010/11 WHeRe  
A dIVIdend Is pAYABle to oRdInARY cRedItoRs 

2010/11 2009/10 % change 
Number of cases concluded where dividend is 
payable

4,709 4,622 1.9%

(£) (£)
total receipts 56,750,579 53,714,115 5.7%
Administration Expenses 29,497,011 29,045,189 1.6%
payable to creditors:    
Secured Creditors 1,573,757 2,254,613 -30.2%

Preferred Creditors 125,491 90,443 38.8%

Ordinary Creditors 25,554,320 22,323,870 14.5%

total sum payable to creditors 27,253,568 24,668,926 10.5%
total sum Allocated 56,750,579 53,714,115 5.7%

The above shows distribution 
of funds collated and allocated 
at the discharge of the trustee 
of a PTD.  £56.75m was 
ingathered during 2010/11 
an increase of 5.5% on total 

receipts for the previous 
year.  Of the total receipts 
52% was allocated towards 
administration costs a slight 
increase of 1.6% on the 
previous year, however there 

was a 1.9% increase on cases 
concluded indicating a slight 
decrease in the average 
administration cost.  Sums 
payable to creditors increased 
by 10.5% during 2010/11.

PTDs concluded where dividend payable 
to Ordinary Creditors 2009-11 

Administration Expenses

Secured Creditors

Ordinary Creditors

3%

45% 52%
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2.7 pRotected tRust deeds (ptds) concluded duRInG 2010/11 WItH  
no pAYment oF A dIVIdend to oRdInARY cRedItoRs

2010/11 2009/10 % change 
Number of cases concluded with no payment 
of a dividend to Ordinary Creditors 

2,678 2,348 14.1%

(£) (£)
total receipts 7,396,565 8,587,353 -13.9%
Administration Expenses 7,124,287 8,356,231 -14.7%
payable to creditors:    
Secured Creditors 269,429 201,407 33.8%

Preferred Creditors 2,848 29,715 -90.4%

total payments to creditors 272,278 231,122 17.8%
total sum distributed 7,396,565 8,587,353 -13.9%

The above shows distribution 
of funds collated and allocated 
at the discharge of the trustee 
of a PTD, where no dividend 
was payable to Ordinary 
Creditors.  £7.39m was 

ingathered during 2010/11 in 
this type of case a decrease 
of 14% on total receipts for 
the previous year.  Of the total 
receipts 96% was allocated 
towards administration costs, 

which is a decrease of 14.7% 
on the previous year.  Sums 
payable to creditors increased 
by 17.8% during 2010/11.

PTDs concluded where no dividend payable to Ordinary Creditors 2009-11

Administration Expenses Secured Creditors

96%

4%
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2.8 AVeRAGe dIVIdend pAYABle In pRotected tRust deeds (ptds) 
concluded duRInG tHIs YeAR BY pAYment oF A dIVIdend (4,709) cAses 

Year Average dividend of protected trust deeds

2006/07 20.1

2007/08 27.9

2008/09 17.6

2009/10 15.7

2010/11 16.2

Since 2006/07 the trend 
for dividends payable had 
decreased steadily from 
20.1 pence in the pound to 
15.7 pence in 2009/10.  In 
2010/11 this dividend average 
increased marginally by 3% to 
16.2 pence in the pound.  

It should be noted that not all 
dividends payable are paid 
directly to creditors as a case 
is concluded.  For a variety 
of reasons a percentage 
of the dividends payable 
are consigned until further 
investigation can ensure 

accurate application of the 
dividend payment. 
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2.9 BAlAnce oF Funds consIGned

Year Balance of consigned Funds (£’000) % change

2005/06 5,408  

2006/07 8,501 57%

2007/08 11,526 36%

2008/09 17,322 50%

2009/10 20,843 20%

2010/11 21,026 1%

Consignations are unallocated 
funds at the end of a 
sequestration or a Trust Deed.   
These can be in the form of 
dividends that the Trustee 
has been unable to pay to a 
creditor, funds that are due 
back to the debtor but the 
Trustee has been unable to 
pay or in some Trust Deeds 

or sequestrations there may 
have been such small amount 
of funds ingathered that it 
is uneconomical to pay a 
dividend.  These monies are 
consigned as an unapplied 
balance.

In 2009/10 we migrated 
the majority of our records 

onto our electronic case 
management system to 
improve identification of the 
ownership of these funds.
In 2010/11 we engaged with 
a number of creditors and 
established processes that 
allowed us to repatriate £4.9m 
back to creditors.  So far we 
have been unable to reduce 
the flow of consignations 
reaching the agency, £5.2m in 
2010/11 but we will continue 
discussions with creditors and 
trustees to look at ways that 
this can be improved.  Overall 
in 2010/11 consignation 
balances grew by only 1% 
compared to an average 35% 
over the previous three years.
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sectIon 3 – lIquIdAtIons And ReceIVeRsHIps
3.1 lIquIdAtIon And ReceIVeRsHIps RecoRded In tHe ReGIsteR  
oF InsolVencIes

2010/11 2009/10 % change

Receiverships 56 33 70%

Compulsory Liquidations 733 578 27%

Voluntary Liquidations 321 254 26%

total Recorded Receiverships and liquidations 1,110 865 28%

36

The above shows Liquidation 
and Receiverships recorded 
in the register of insolvencies 
during 2010/11 and the 
previous year.  The table 
shows that Receiverships and 
Liquidations have increased  
by 28% from 865 in 2009/10  
to 1,110 in the year ended  
31 March 2011.  The most 
notable increase is the rise of 
almost 70% in receiverships 
from 33 to 56 by the year end.
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Liquidation and receiverships recorded 
in the ROI 2010/11
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sectIon 4 – deBt ARRAnGement scHeme (dAs)
4.1 deBt ARRAnGement scHeme deBt pAYment pRoGRAmmes

2010/11 2009/10 % change

Debt Payment Programme applications received 2,021 1,503 34.5%

Debt Payment Programmes rejected (90) (75) 20.0%

Debt Payment Programme awaiting decision (21) (11)  

sub total 1,910 1,417 34.8%

Debt Payment Programmes approved    

Automatic approval (no conditions) 1,085 901 20.4%

Automatic approval (with conditions) 681 387 76.0%

Approved by the DAS Administrator 144 129 11.6%

Approved by the Sheriff 0 0  

total 1,910 1,417 34.8%

Completed Debt Payment Programmes 35 20 75.0%

Total value of debts included in Debt Payment 
Programmes approved during 2010/11

£43,085,316 £34,078,546 26.4%

The above details the 
DAS payment programme 
applications in the year 
2010/11 and in comparison 
to the previous year.  
Applications for Debt Payment 
Programmes (DPPs) have 
risen by 34% from 1,503 to 
2,021.  Debt included in DPPs 
has risen by almost 39% from 
£31m to £43m by 31 March 
2011.

Debt Payment Programmes 
approved 2009-11

Automatic approval (no conditions)

Automatic approval (with conditions)

Approved by the DAS Administrator

8%

56%

36%
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4.2 ApplIcAtIons to VARY A deBt pAYment pRoGRAmme 

2010/11 2009/10 % change

Number of applications approved 348 223 56.1%

Number of applications rejected 53 22 140.9%

total 401 245 63.7%

The tables above show the applications made to vary or revoke Debt Payment Programmes 
(DPPs).  There was a 63.7% increase in applications to vary DPPs and an increase of 55.5% in 
applications to revoke DPPs.

4.3 ApplIcAtIons to ReVoKe A deBt pAYment pRoGRAmme 

2010/11 2009/10 % change

Number of applications approved 157 88 78.4%

Number of applications rejected 28 31 -9.7%

total 185 119 55.5%
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4.4 deBt ARRAnGement scHeme AppRoVed moneY AdVIseRs 

local Authority Region 2010/11 2009/10 Waiting re-approval
Aberdeen City 4 3 0
Aberdeenshire 2 5 1
Angus 0 4 5
Argyll & Bute 2 1 0
Clackmannanshire 1 2 0
Dumfries & Galloway 3 3 1
Dundee City 2 2 0
East Ayrshire 2 1 0
East Dunbartonshire 2 2 0
East Lothian 1 1 0
East Renfrewshire 3 3 2
Edinburgh City 2 2 0
Falkirk 4 4 0
Fife 15 15 0
Glasgow City 7 6 0
Highland 5 4 0
Inverclyde 1 2 1
Midlothian 2 2 0
Moray 2 2 0
North Ayrshire 1 4 3
North Lanarkshire Council 10 9 0
Orkney 0 0 0
Perth & Kinross 1 1 0
Renfrewshire 0 2 2
Scottish Borders 0 1 1
Shetland 0 0 0
South Ayrshire Council 1 2 1
South Lanarkshire Council 5 6 0
Stirling 3 3 0
West Dunbartonshire 1 2 1
West Lothian 0 1 0
Western Isles 1 1 0
All regions 7 2 0
total: 90 98 18

The above shows DAS approved money advisers detailed by Local Authority area.  Changes to DAS 
will be introduced on 1 July 2011 to widen the access to DAS by extending the list of individuals who 
may deliver DAS.  
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RemuneRAtIon RepoRt

RemuneRAtIon polIcY
tHe RemuneRAtIon oF All tHe AGencY’s mAnAGement And 
emploYees Is set BY tHe scottIsH GoVeRnment undeR Its 
stAndARd teRms And condItIons oF emploYment.  

seRVIce 
contRActs 
Civil Service appointments are 
made in accordance with the 
Civil Service Commissioners’ 
Recruitment Code, which 
requires appointment to be 
on merit on the basis of fair 
and open competition but also 
includes the circumstances 
when appointments may 
otherwise be made.

Unless otherwise stated 
below, the officials covered by 
this report hold appointments 
which are open-ended.  Early 
termination, other than for 
misconduct, would result 
in the individual receiving 
compensation as set out in the 
Civil Service Compensation 
Scheme.

Further information about 
the work of the Civil 
Service Commissioners 
can be found at www.
civilservicecommissioners.
gov.uk

sAlARY And 
pensIon 
entItlements 
The following sections provide 
details of the remuneration 
and pension interests of 
the most senior officials of 
the Agency. These following 
sections of the remuneration 
report are subject to audit.



41

RemuneRAtIon
2010/11 2010/11 2009/10

salary £’000 Bonus £’000 salary £’000

Rosemary Winter-Scott
Chief Executive*

70-75 0-5 35-40

David Wallace
Head of Corporate Services

50-55 0-5 45-50

John Cook
Head of Case Operations

40-45 – 30-35

Claire Orr**
Head of Policy and Compliance

30-35 – –

Fiona Gavine
Non-Executive Board Member

5-10 – 5-10

Stuart Muir***
Non-Executive Board Member

0-5 – 0-5

Frank Shennan****
Non-Executive Board Member

0-5 – –

Bryan Jackson****
Non-Executive Board Member

0-5 – –

Yvonne MacDermid*****
Non-Executive Board Member

0-5 – –

*Rosemary Winter-Scott 
became Chief Executive on  
1 October 2009.  
**Claire Orr joined the 
Agency and The Board on  
30 August 2010.

***Stuart Muir’s period of 
tenure as Non-Executive 
Board Member ended 
31 March 2011 and he 
relinquished his position.
****Frank Shennan and Bryan 
Jackson joined the Agency 

as Non-Executive Board 
Members 1 December 2010.
*****Yvonne MacDermid 
joined the Agency as Non-
Executive Board Member  
on 17 February 2011.
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sAlARY
‘Salary’ includes gross salary; 
performance pay or bonuses; 
overtime and any other 
allowance to the extent that it 
is subject to UK taxation.  This 
report is based on payments 
made within the year by the 
Agency. 

Bonuses paid to Board 
members in 2010/11 
amounted to between £0-5k.

BeneFIts In KInd
There were no benefits  
in kind within 2010/11  
(2009/10 – £nil).

non-eXecutIVe 
BoARd memBeRs
Non-Executive Board 
Members are not salaried 
employees, but receive a 
day rate for attendance at 
Board and Audit Committee 
meetings.

ReGIsteRs oF 
InteRest
A Register of Interests of 
Executive and Non-Executive 
Board Members is held 
centrally and is reviewed 
regularly with the opportunity 
for updates at each Board 
meeting.

pensIon BeneFIts

Accrued pension 
at age 60 as at 

31/3/11 and 
related lump sum

Real increase 
in pension and 

related lump sum 
at age 60

cetV at 
31/3/11

cetV at 
31/3/10 
restated

Real 
increase  
in cetV

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rosemary 
Winter-Scott

10–15
no lump sum

0–2.5
no lump sum

140 117 11

David Wallace 10–15
plus lump sum of 

30–35

0–2.5
plus lump sum of 

2.5–5

133 109 14

John Cook 10–15
plus lump sum of 

20–25

2.5–5
plus lump sum of 

2.5–5

171 121 39

Claire Orr 15–20
plus lump sum of 

45–50

0–2.5
plus lump sum of 

0–2.5

166 146 8
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cIVIl seRVIce 
pensIons
Pension benefits are provided 
through the Civil Service 
pension arrangements.  From 
30 July 2007, civil servants 
may be in one of four defined 
benefit schemes; either a 
final salary scheme (classic, 
premium or classic plus); 
or a whole career scheme 
(nuvos).  These statutory 
arrangements are unfunded 
with the cost of benefits met 
by monies voted by Parliament 
each year.  Pensions payable 
under classic, premium, 
classic plus and nuvos are 
increased annually in line 
with Pensions Increase 
legislation.  Members joining 
from October 2002 may opt for 
either the appropriate defined 
benefit arrangement or a 
‘money purchase’ stakeholder 
pension with an employer 
contribution (partnership 
pension account).

Employee contributions are 
set at the rate of 1.5% of 
pensionable earnings for 
classic and 3.5% for premium, 

classic plus and nuvos.  
Benefits in classic accrue 
at the rate of 1/80th of final 
pensionable earnings for each 
year of service.  In addition, 
a lump sum equivalent to 
three years initial pension is 
payable on retirement.  For 
premium, benefits accrue 
at the rate of 1/60th of final 
pensionable earnings for 
each year of service.  Unlike 
classic, there is no automatic 
lump sum.  classic plus 
is essentially a hybrid with 
benefits for service before 
1 October 2002 calculated 
broadly as per classic and 
benefits for service from 
October 2002 worked out as in 
premium.  In nuvos a member 
builds up a pension based 
on his pensionable earnings 
during their period of scheme 
membership.  At the end of 
the scheme year (31 March) 
the member’s earned pension 
account is credited with 2.3% 
of their pensionable earnings 
in that scheme year and the 
accrued pension is uprated in 
line with Pensions Increase 
legislation.  In all cases 
members may opt to give up 

(commute) pension for a lump 
sum up to the limits set by the 
Finance Act 2004.

The partnership pension 
account is a stakeholder 
pension arrangement.  The 
employer makes a basic 
contribution of between 3% 
and 12.5% (depending on the 
age of the member) into a 
stakeholder pension product 
chosen by the employee from 
a panel of three providers.  
The employee does not have 
to contribute, but where they 
do make contributions, the 
employer will match these up 
to a limit of 3% of pensionable 
salary (in addition to the 
employer’s basic contribution).  
Employers also contribute a 
further 0.8% of pensionable 
salary to cover the cost of 
centrally-provided risk benefit 
cover (death in service and ill 
health retirement).

The accrued pension quoted 
is the pension the member 
is entitled to receive when 
they reach pension age, or 
immediately on ceasing to 
be an active member of the 
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scheme if they are already at 
or over pension age.  Pension 
age is 60 for members of 
classic, premium and classic 
plus and 65 for members of 
nuvos.

Further details about the Civil 
Service pension arrangements 
can be found at the website 
http://www.civilservice.
gov.uk/my-civil-service/
pensions/index.aspx

cAsH equIVAlent 
tRAnsFeR VAlues
A Cash Equivalent Transfer 
Value (CETV) is the actuarially 
assessed capitalised value of 
the pension scheme benefits 
accrued by a member at 
a particular point in time.  
The benefits valued are the 
member’s accrued benefits 
and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from 
the scheme.  A CETV is a 
payment made by a pension 
scheme or arrangement to 
secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme 
or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme 

and chooses to transfer the 
benefits accrued in their 
former scheme.  The pension 
figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has 
accrued as a consequence of 
their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their 
service in a senior capacity to 
which disclosure applies.

Please note that the actuarial 
factors that are used in the 
CETV calculations were 
changed during 2010, due 
to changes in demographic 
assumptions and the move 
from the Retail Prices Index 
(RPI) to the Consumer Prices 
Index (CPI) as the measure 
used to up rate Civil Service 
pensions. This means that the 
CETV in this years report for 
31 March 2010 will not be the 
same as the corresponding 
figure shown in last years 
report.  

The figures include the 
value of any pension benefit 
in another scheme or 
arrangement which the 
member has transferred 
to the Civil Service pension 

arrangements.  They also 
include any additional pension 
benefit accrued to the 
member as a result of their 
buying additional pension 
benefits at their own cost.  
CETVs are worked out within 
the guidelines and framework 
prescribed by the Institute 
and Faculty of Actuaries and 
do not take account of any 
actual or potential reduction 
to benefits resulting from 
Lifetime Allowance Tax which 
may be due when pension 
benefits are taken.

Rosemary Winter-Scott
Accountable officer

6 July 2011
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The accounts are prepared on 
an accruals basis and must 
give a true and fair view of the 
Agency’s state of affairs at the 
year-end and of its income 
and expenditure, recognised 
gains and losses and cash 
flows for the financial year.

In preparing accounts, the 
Agency is required to:

•  Observe the accounts 
direction, including the 
relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, 
and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a 
consistent basis;

•  Make judgements and 
estimates on a reasonable 
basis;

•  State whether applicable 
accounting standards have 
been followed, and disclose 
and explain any material 
departures in the financial 
statements; and

•  Prepare the financial 
statements on the going 
concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume 
that the Agency will 
continue in operation.

The Principal Accountable 
Officer of the Scottish 
Government has appointed 
the Chief Executive of 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
as the Accountable Officer 
for the Agency.  The 
relevant responsibilities as 
Accountable Officer, including 
responsibility for the propriety 
and regularity of the public 
finances and for the keeping 
of proper records, are set 
out in the Memorandum to 
Accountable Officers’ issued 
by the Scottish Ministers.

stAtement oF tHe AGencY’s 
And cHIeF eXecutIVe’s 
ResponsIBIlItIes

undeR sectIon 19(4) oF tHe puBlIc FInAnce And 
AccountABIlItY (scotlAnd) Act 2000, tHe scottIsH mInIsteRs 
HAVe dIRected AccountAnt In BAnKRuptcY to pRepARe A 
stAtement oF Accounts FoR eAcH FInAncIAl YeAR In tHe 
FoRm And on tHe BAsIs set out In tHe dIRectIon on pAGe 77. 
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stAtement on InteRnAl 
contRol 2010/11

scope oF 
ResponsIBIlItY
As Accountable Officer, 
I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system 
of internal control that 
supports the achievement of 
the organisation’s policies, 
aims and objectives set by 
the Scottish Ministers, whilst 
safeguarding the public  
funds and assets for which  
I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned  
to me as agreed by the 
Director General Justice  
and Communities.

The Scottish Public Finance 
Manual (SPFM) is issued 
by the Scottish Ministers 
to provide guidance to the 
Scottish Government and 
other relevant bodies on 
the proper handling and 
reporting of public funds.  
It sets out the relevant 
statutory, parliamentary and 
administrative requirements, 
emphasises the need for 
economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness, and promotes 
good practice and high 
standards of propriety.

puRpose oF 
tHe sYstem oF 
InteRnAl contRol
The system of internal control 
is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve the 
organisation’s policies, aims 
and objectives. It can therefore 
only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness.

The system of internal 
control is based on an 
ongoing process designed 
to identify the principal risks 
to the achievement of the 
organisation’s policies, aims 
and objectives; to evaluate 
the nature and extent of those 
risks and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and 
economically.

The process within the 
organisation accords with 
guidance from the Scottish 
Ministers provided in the 
SPFM and has been in place 
for the year ended 31 March 
2011 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report 
and accounts. 

RIsK And contRol 
FRAmeWoRK
All bodies to which the SPFM 
is directly applicable must 
operate a risk management 
strategy in accordance with 
relevant guidance issued 
by the Scottish Ministers. 
The general principles for a 
successful risk management 
strategy are set out in the 
SPFM.

I have continually reviewed 
our capacity to manage risks 
during the course of the year.  
To deliver the Agency’s aims 
and objectives the Board 
met regularly to assess and 
manage the risks identified 
in the strategic risk register.  
My Audit Committee, chaired 
by an independent Non-
Executive Board Member, 
takes the lead role in ensuring 
the risk management strategy 
is functioning adequately. 

The agency maintains a 
risk register which records 
internal and external risks 
and identifies the mitigating 
actions required to reduce  
the threat of these risks 
occurring and their impact.



47

The register is regularly 
updated and reviewed.   
Each risk is allocated an 
owner who will ensure 
that any mitigating action 
is carried out. Individual 
risk registers are also used 
for specific projects as a 
management control tool 
to ensure a successful 
outcome.  These provide a 
mechanism to report risks 
to the project management 
board for assessment and to 
escalate high level risks to 
senior management to take 
preventative action.

The Agency follows Scottish 
Government policy on 
Information Security and  
has a Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO) along with 
Information Asset Owners 
in place to manage risk to 
information.  There were 
no personal data related 
incidents in 2010/11  
(2009/10 – nil).

More generally, Accountant 
in Bankruptcy is committed 
to a process of continuous 

development and 
improvement: developing 
systems in response to 
any relevant reviews and 
developments in best practice 
in this area. In particular, in 
the period covering the year 
to 31 March and up to the 
signing of the accounts the 
Agency has:

•  Increased Membership 
of the Board to include 
additional Non-
Executive representation 
from the insolvency, 
communications and 
voluntary sectors which 
has increased the range of 
expertise available to the 
Agency in decision making 
processes. 

•  Established the position 
of Procurement Manager 
within the agency with 
the post holder holding 
the Chartered Institute of 
Purchasing and Supply 
qualification.  Delegated 
Purchasing Authority 
procedures have been 
implemented and 
mandatory training for 

all involved in purchasing 
introduced.

•  Introduced a Policy 
and Cases Committee, 
an independent sub-
committee of the Board.  
The committee provides 
the Chief Executive with 
assurance that AiB is 
dealing appropriately with 
cases it manages and that 
our policies and practices 
are appropriate.  

•  Set up an Operational 
Policy and Compliance 
team within the 
organisation. This 
team will ensure that 
the implementation of 
legislation is carried out 
within the agency both 
efficiently and accurately.  
This team will also provide 
quality assurance on cases 
managed internally.

•  Revised the current credit 
control, introducing more 
robust monitoring and 
control processes resulting 
in improved payment rates 
and a resultant drop in 
aged debt.

AnnuAl RepoRt And Accounts 2010/11



ReVIeW oF 
eFFectIVeness
As Accountable Officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review is 
informed by:
•  the business managers 

within the organisation 
who have responsibility 
for the development and 
maintenance of the internal 
control framework; 

•  the work of the internal 
auditors of the Scottish 
Government’s Finance 
Directorate, who submit 
regular reports to the 
Agency’s Audit Committee. 
These reports provide 
independent and objective 
opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the 
Agency’s systems of 
internal control together 
with recommendations for 
improvement; 

•  comments made by 
Audit Scotland in their 
management letters and 
other reports.

I have also been advised on 
the implications of the review 
of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control 
by the Board and the Audit 
committee.

In addition, the following 
processes have informed my 
review:

•  During the year the Board 
met monthly to consider 
the strategic and key 
operational issues of the 
Agency and to report to 
me on progress made on 
delivery or targets and 
special projects;

•  Quarterly meetings were 
held with our ‘Fraser 
Figure’; the Director, 
Justice at the Scottish 
Government who facilitates 
relations between the 
Agency and the Scottish 
Government.  A report 
on the Agency’s activities 
and progress towards 
meeting targets was 
prepared quarterly to 
inform discussions at these 
meetings.  Agency senior 

managers and the Scottish 
Government Finance 
Justice Team Leader 
attended to support these 
meetings;

•  Information provided by the 
core financial systems of 
the Scottish Government 
which the Agency uses 
and relies on to carry out 
our own accounting and 
payment functions and 
some of our procurement 
of goods and services.

Appropriate action is in place 
to address any weaknesses 
identified and to ensure the 
continuous improvement of 
the system.

Rosemary Winter-Scott
the Accountant in Bankruptcy 
and Agency chief executive

6 July 2011
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I have audited the financial 
statements of the Accountant 
in Bankruptcy for the year 
ended 31 March 2011 under 
the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000.  The financial 
statements comprise the 
Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure, the 
Statement of Financial 
Position, the Statement of 
Cash Flows, the Statement of 
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity 
and the related notes.  The 
financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the European 
Union, and as interpreted 
and adapted by the 2010/11 
Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (the 
2010/11 FReM).

This report is made solely 
to the parties to whom it is 
addressed in accordance 

with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000 and for no other 
purpose.  In accordance with 
paragraph 123 of the Code of 
Audit Practice approved by the 
Auditor General for Scotland, 
I do not undertake to have 
responsibilities to members 
or officers, in their individual 
capacities, or to third parties.

RespectIVe 
ResponsIBIlItIes 
oF AccountABle 
oFFIceR And 
AudItoR
As explained more fully 
in the Statement of 
the Agency’s and Chief 
Executive’s Responsibilities, 
the Accountable Officer 
is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial 
statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view, and is also 
responsible for ensuring the 

regularity of expenditure and 
receipts.  My responsibility 
is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance 
with applicable law and 
International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland) as 
required by the Code of Audit 
Practice approved by the 
Auditor General for Scotland.  
Those standards require me 
to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.  I am 
also responsible for giving an 
opinion on the regularity of 
expenditure and receipts.

scope oF tHe 
AudIt oF tHe 
FInAncIAl 
stAtements
An audit involves obtaining 
evidence about the amounts, 
disclosures, and regularity 
of expenditure and receipts 
in the financial statements 

Independent  
AudItoR’s RepoRt

Independent AudItoR’s RepoRt to AccountAnt In 
BAnKRuptcY, tHe AudItoR GeneRAl FoR scotlAnd And  
tHe scottIsH pARlIAment
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sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial 
statements are free from 
material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud 
or error.  This includes an 
assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the body’s 
circumstances and have  
been consistently applied  
and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates  
made by the Accountable 
Officer; and the overall 
presentation of the financial 
statements.  In addition,  
I read all the financial and 
non-financial information in 
the Annual Report to identify 
material inconsistencies 
with the audited financial 
statements.  If I become 
aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or 
inconsistencies I consider the 
implications for my report.

opInIon on 
FInAncIAl 
stAtements
In my opinion the financial 
statements:

•  give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Public 
Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 and 
directions made thereunder 
by the Scottish Ministers 
of the state of the body’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2011 
and of its net operating cost 
for the year then ended; 

•  have been properly 
prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union, as 
interpreted and adapted by 
the 2010/11 FReM; and

•  have been prepared in 
accordance with the 
requirements of the Public 
Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 
and directions made 
thereunderby the Scottish 
Ministers.

opInIon on 
ReGulARItY
In my opinion in all material 
respects:

•  the expenditure and 
receipts in the financial 
statements were incurred 
or applied in accordance 
with any applicable 
enactments and guidance 
issued by the Scottish 
Ministers, the Budget 
(Scotland) Act covering 
the financial year and 
sections 4 to 7 of the Public 
Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000; and

•  the sums paid out of the 
Scottish Consolidated Fund 
for the purpose of meeting 
the expenditure shown in 
the financial statements 
were applied in accordance 
with section 65 of the 
Scotland Act 1998.
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opInIon on otHeR 
pRescRIBed 
mAtteRs
In my opinion:

•  the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be 
audited has been properly 
prepared in accordance 
with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000 and directions 
made thereunder by the 
Scottish Ministers; and

•  the information given in 
The Year in Focus and the 
section headed Our Role 
and Purpose included in 
the Annual Report for the 
financial year for which the 
financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements.

mAtteRs on WHIcH 
I Am RequIRed 
to RepoRt BY 
eXceptIon
I am required to report to you 
if, in my opinion:

•  adequate accounting 
records have not been kept; 
or

•  the financial statements 
and the part of the 
Remuneration Report 
to be audited are not 
in agreement with the 
accounting records; or

•  I have not received all 
the information and 
explanations I require for 
my audit; or

•  the Statement on Internal 
Control does not comply 
with Scottish Government 
guidance.

I have nothing to report in 
respect of these matters.

David Jamieson CPFA
senior Audit manager
Audit scotland
7th Floor, Plaza Tower 
East Kilbride
G74 1LW
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AccountAnt In BAnKRuptcY                                                     
AnnuAl Accounts 2010/11

stAtement oF compReHensIVe net eXpendItuRe FoR tHe YeAR ended  
31 mARcH 2011

2010/11 2009/10
note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

programme costs

Income

Operating Income 4 9,985 8,162

expenditure

Staff Costs 2 4,219 4,329

Other Operating Costs 3 1,975 2,146

Direct Sequestration Costs 3 5,085 5,331

Non-Cash Expenditure 3 491 608

total expenditure 11,770 12,414

net operating cost 1,785 4,252

total comprehensive 
expenditure

1,785 4,252

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.  There were no discontinued 
activities.  There were no material acquisitions or disposals in the year.
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stAtement oF cHAnGes In tAXpAYeRs’ equItY FoR tHe YeAR ended  
31 mARcH 2011

General Fund Revaluation 
Reserve

total

note £’000 £’000 £’000
Balance at 1 April 2010 872 73 945

changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2010/11

Net gain on revaluation/indexation of 
property, plant and equipment

5 - 28 28

Non cash charges – auditor’s 
remuneration

3 45 - 45

Net operating cost for the year (1,785) - (1,785)

total recognised income and expense 
for 2010/11

(1,740) 28 (1,712)

Parliamentary Funding 2,221 - 2,221
Balance at 31 march 2011 1,353 101 1,454
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stAtement oF FInAncIAl posItIon As At 31 mARcH 2011

31 march 2011 31 march 2010
note £’000 £’000

non-current Assets
Tangible Assets 5 645 709
Intangible Assets 6 640 764
total non-current Assets 1,285 1,473

current Assets
Trade Receivables and Other Current Assets 7 1,114 1,035
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8 1,189 968
total current Assets 2,303 2,003

total Assets 3,588 3,476

current liabilities 
Payables and Other Current Liabilities 9 (1,865) (2,271)
total current liabilities (1,865) (2,271)

total assets less current liabilities 1,723 1,205

non-current liabilities  
Provisions for Liabilities and Charges 12 (25) - 
Other Liabilities 9 (244) (260)
total non-current liabilities (269) (260) 

Assets less liabilities 1,454 945

taxpayers’ equity 
General Fund SOCTE 1,353 872
Revaluation Reserve SOCTE 101 73
total taxpayers’ equity 1,454 945

Rosemary Winter-Scott
Accountable officer

6 July 2011
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stAtement oF cAsH FloWs FoR tHe YeAR ended 31 mARcH 2011

2010/11 2009/10
note £’000 £’000

Net cash outflow from operating activities (A) (1,754) (2,608)

Net cash outflow from investment activities (B) (246) (253)

Cash flows from financing activities (C) 2,221 3,678

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the period 221 817

(A) Reconciliation of operating costs to operating cash flows

Net operating cost (1,785) (4,253)

Adjust for non-cash transactions 3 491 608

(Increase)/decrease in receivables and other current 
assets

10 (79) 1,159

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 10 (406) (2)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 25 (120)

Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,754) (2,608)

(B) Analysis of cash flows from investment activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (31) (237)

Purchase of intangible assets 6 (215) (16)

Net cash outflow from investment activities (246) (253)

(c) Analysis of cash flows from financing activities

From Scottish Consolidated Fund SOCTE 2,221 3,678

Cash flows from financing activities 2,221 3,678

decrease/(Increase) in cash and cash equivalents (221) (817)

net cash and cash equivalents requirement 2,000 2,861
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notes to tHe Accounts
AccountAnt In BAnKRuptcY
AnnuAl Accounts 2010/11

1. AccountInG 
polIcIes
1.1 AutHoRItY
In accordance with the 
accounts direction issued 
by Scottish Ministers under 
section 19(4) of the Public 
Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 these 
accounts have been 
prepared in compliance 
with the principles and 
disclosure requirements of 
the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM) 
issued by HM Treasury, 
which follows International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European 
Union (IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU), International 
Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) interpretations and 
the Companies Act 2006 
to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate  
in the public sector.  They have 
been applied consistently in 
dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the 
accounts.

The preparation of financial 
statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use 
of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires 
management to exercise 
judgement in the process 
of applying the accounting 
policies.  The accounts 
policies, and where necessary 
estimation techniques, 
selected are done so in 
accordance with the principles 
set out in International 
Accounting Standard 8: 
Accounting Policies,  
Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors.  

1.2 AccountInG 
conVentIon
These accounts are prepared 
on a historical cost basis, as 
modified by the revaluation 
of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets 
and financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value.

1.3 pRopeRtY, plAnt 
And equIpment 
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment 
is capitalised where:

•  It is held for use in 
delivering services or for 
administrative purposes; 

•  It is probable that future 
economic benefit will flow 
to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Agency; 

•  It is expected to be used 
for more than one financial 
year; and

•  The cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.

All assets falling into the 
following categories are 
capitalised:

•  Equipment and vehicles 
which are capable of being 
used for a period which 
could exceed one year,  
and have a cost equal to  
or greater than £5,000;

•  Information and 
Communications 
Technology (ICT) systems 
are capitalised where they 
form part of a group of 
similar assets purchased 
at approximately the same 
time and cost over £1,000  
in total;

•  Significant improvements 
to leasehold properties will 
be capitalised where the 
total cost of the group of 
assets is equal to or over 
£5,000. 

 
Expenditure on furniture, 
fixtures and fittings is 
charged to the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure in the year the 
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cost is incurred and is not 
capitalised.

Where a large asset, for 
example a building, includes 
a number of components with 
significantly different asset 
lives e.g. plant and equipment, 
then these components are 
treated as separate assets 
and depreciated over their 
own useful economic lives.

measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and 
equipment assets are 
measured initially at cost, 
representing the costs directly 
attributable to acquiring or 
constructing the asset and 
bringing it to the location 
and condition necessary for 
it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by 
management.

All assets are measured 
subsequently at fair value as 
follows:

•  Valuation of all land and 
buildings are reassessed 
by valuers under a rolling 
5-year programme of 
professional valuations 
and adjusted in intervening 
years to take account of 

movements in prices since 
the latest valuation.  

•  These valuations are 
carried out in accordance 
with the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 
Appraisal and Valuation 
Manual insofar as these 
terms are consistent with 
the agreed requirements of 
the Scottish Government.

Other plant and equipment 
assets that have short useful 
lives or low values (or both) 
are reported on a depreciated 
historic cost basis as a proxy 
for fair value. 

Assets under construction are 
valued at current cost.  This is 
calculated by the expenditure 
incurred to which an 
appropriate index is applied to 
arrive at current value.  Assets 
under construction are also 
subject to impairment review.

subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is 
capitalised into an asset’s 
carrying value where it is 
probable the future economic 
benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the 
Agency and the cost can be 
reliably measured.  Where 

subsequent expenditure does 
not meet these criteria, the 
expenditure is charged to the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure.  If part of an 
asset is replaced, then the part 
it replaces is de-recognised, 
regardless of whether or 
not it has been depreciated 
separately. 

Revaluations and Impairment
Increases in asset values 
arising from revaluations are 
recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where they 
reverse an impairment 
previously recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure, in which  
case they are recognised  
as income.  

Movements on revaluation 
are considered for individual 
assets rather than groups or 
land/buildings together.

Decreases in asset values 
and impairments are charged 
to the revaluation reserve to 
the extent that there is an 
available balance for the asset 
concerned and thereafter 
are charged to the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure.

AnnuAl RepoRt And Accounts 2010/11



58

depreciation
Items of property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated 
to their estimated residual 
value over their remaining 
useful economic lives in a 
manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits.

Depreciation is charged on 
a straight line basis on each 
main class of property, plant 
and equipment as follows:

Equipment 
– Non Fixed 
Plant

3 to 10 Years

ICT Equipment 3 Years
Leasehold 
Improvements

10 Years  
or life of 
lease term  
if shorter

Held for sale 
assets

Not 
depreciated

Assets under 
construction

Not 
depreciated

1.4 IntAnGIBle Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-
monetary assets without 
physical substance which 
are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the 
Agency’s business or which 
arise from contractual or 
other legal rights.  They are 

recognised only where it is 
probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to, or service 
potential be provided to, the 
Agency and where the cost of 
the asset can be measured 
reliably. 

Intangible assets that meet 
the recognition criteria are 
capitalised where they are 
capable of being used in the 
Agency’s activities for more 
than one year and they have a 
cost of at least £1,000.

The main classes of intangible 
assets recognised are:

•  Internally Generated 
Intangible Assets.

•  Internally generated 
goodwill, brands, 
mastheads, publishing 
titles, customer lists and 
similar items are not 
capitalised as intangible 
assets.

Expenditure on research is not 
capitalised.

Expenditure on development 
is capitalised only where 
all of the following can be 
demonstrated:

•  The project is technically 
feasible to the point of 

completion and will result 
in an intangible asset for 
sale or use;

•  The Agency intends to 
complete the asset and sell 
or use it;

•  The Agency has the ability 
to sell or use the asset;

•  How the intangible asset 
will generate probable 
future economic or service 
delivery benefits e.g. the 
presence of a market for it 
or its output, or where it is 
to be used for internal use, 
the usefulness of the asset;

•  Adequate financial, 
technical and other 
resources are available to 
the Agency to complete the 
development and sell or 
use the asset; and

•  The Agency can measure 
reliably the expenses 
attributable to the asset 
during development.

Expenditure capitalised in line 
with the above is limited to 
the value of probable future 
economic benefits.

measurement
Valuation
Intangible assets are 
recognised initially at cost, 
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comprising all directly 
attributable costs needed to 
create, produce and prepare 
the asset to the point that 
it is capable of operating 
in the manner intended by 
management.

Subsequently intangible 
assets are measured at 
fair value.  Where an active 
(homogeneous) market 
exists, intangible assets are 
carried at fair value.  Where 
no active market exists, the 
intangible asset is revalued, 
using indices or some 
suitable model, to the lower of 
depreciated replacement cost 
and the value in use where the 
asset is income generating.  
Where there is no value in 
use, the intangible asset is 
valued using depreciated 
replacement cost.  These 
measures are a proxy for  
fair value.

Revaluations and Impairment
Increases in asset values 
arising from revaluations are 
recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where they 
reverse an impairment 
previously recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure, in which 

case they are recognised as 
income. 

Decreases in asset values 
and impairments are charged 
to the revaluation reserve to 
the extent that there is an 
available balance for the asset 
concerned, and thereafter 
are charged to the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure.

Intangible assets held for 
sale are reclassified to ‘non-
current assets held for sale’ 
measured at the lower of  
their carrying amount or  
‘fair value less cost to sell’.

Amortisation
Intangible assets are 
amortised to their estimated 
residual value over their 
remaining useful economic 
lives in a manner that 
is consistent with the 
consumption of economic  
or service delivery benefits.

Amortisation is charged on 
a straight line basis to the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure on each of 
the main class of intangible 
assets as follows:

Computer 
Software - 
Internally 
Developed

5 Years

Computer 
Software – 
Licenses 

3 Years or  
life of licence 
if less

Held for Sale Not 
amortised

1.5 sAle oF pRopeRtY, 
plAnt And equIpment, 
IntAnGIBle Assets 
And non-cuRRent 
Assets Held FoR sAle
Disposal of non-current 
assets is accounted for as 
a reduction to the value of 
assets equal to the net book 
value of the assets disposed.  
When set against any sales 
proceeds, the resulting gain 
or loss on disposal will be 
recorded in the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure.  Non-current 
assets held for sale will 
include assets transferred 
from other categories and  
will reflect any resultant 
changes in valuation.

1.6 ImpAIRment oF 
non-FInAncIAl Assets
Assets that are subject to 
depreciation and amortisation 
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are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.  An 
impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use.  
Where an asset is not held 
for the purpose of generating 
cash flows, value in use is 
assumed to equal the cost of 
replacing the service potential 
provided by the asset, unless 
there has been a reduction 
in service potential.  For 
the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units).  Non-
financial assets that suffer 
an impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the 
impairment.  Impairment 
losses charged to the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure are deducted 
from future operating costs 
to the extent that they are 
identified as being reversed  
in subsequent revaluations.

1.7 leAsInG
operating leases
All agency leases are 
regarded as operating leases 
and the rentals are charged 
to expenditure on a straight-
line basis over the term of 
the lease.  Operating lease 
incentives received are added 
to the lease rentals and 
charged to expenditure  
over the life of the lease.

1.8 emploYee BeneFIts
short-term employee 
Benefits
Salaries, wages and 
employment-related 
payments are recognised in 
the year in which the service 
is received from employees.  
The cost of annual leave 
and flexible working time 
entitlement earned but not 
taken by employees at the 
end of the year is recognised 
in the financial statements to 
the extent that employees are 
permitted to carry-forward 
leave into the following year.

pension costs
Present and past employees 
are covered by the provisions 
of the Principal Civil Service 
Pension Scheme (PCSPS) 
which is a defined benefit 

scheme and is unfunded and 
non-contributory.  The Agency 
recognises the expected cost 
of providing pensions for their 
employees on a systematic 
and rational basis over the 
period during which they 
benefit from their services 
by payment to the PCSPS of 
amounts calculated on an 
accruing basis.  (Relevant 
disclosures are reported 
in Note 2).  Liability for the 
payment of future benefits  
is a charge to the PCSPS.

In respect of the defined 
contribution schemes,  
the Agency recognises the 
contributions payable for  
the year

1.9 FInAncIAl 
InstRuments
Cash requirements for 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
are met through the Scottish 
Government and therefore 
Financial Instruments play a 
more limited role in creating 
and managing risk than would 
apply within a non-public 
sector body.  The majority of 
financial instruments relate 
to Receivables and Payables 
incurred through the normal 
operational activities of 
the agency.  The agency is 
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therefore exposed to little 
credit, liquidity or market risk.

Financial Assets
The Agency classifies its 
financial assets in the 
following categories; at 
fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, 
and available for sale.  The 
classification depends 
on the purpose for which 
the financial assets were 
acquired.  Management 
determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

Financial Assets held by the 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
have been classified as 
loans and receivables or 
cash.  Loans and receivables 
comprise trade and other 
receivables.

Loans and other receivables 
are measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective 
interest method, less provision 
for impairment.

Financial liabilities
The Agency classifies its 
financial liabilities in the 
following categories: 

at fair value through profit 
or loss, and other financial 
liabilities.  The classification 
depends on the purpose for 
which the financial liabilities 
were issued.  Management 
determines the classification 
of its financial liabilities at 
initial recognition.

Financial liabilities of the 
Agency consist of Trade 
and other Payables and are 
recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest 
method.

1.10 InVentoRIes 
The Agency does not hold 
inventories of any kind.  
The cost of stationery and 
publications is charged 
as an expense within the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure in the year 
in which the expenditure is 
incurred.

1.11 RelAted pARtY 
tRAnsActIons 
Material related party 
transactions are disclosed in 
line with the requirements of 
IAS 24.

1.12 cost oF cApItAl 
cHARGe
HM Treasury, under the  
Clear Line of Sight (Alignment 
Project) removed the cost of 
capital charge from budgets 
and accounts from 1 April 2010.  
The cost of capital charge is 
therefore no longer applicable.  
The removal of the cost of 
capital charge is a change in 
accounting policy under IAS 8.   
Applying paragraph 31 of IAS 
1 and, noting that the removal 
of the cost of capital charge 
has no effect on the balance 
sheets, a specific disclosure 
is not required.  The impact 
on the prior-year outturn 
statement/statement of 
comprehensive expenditure  
is a reduction of £44k.

1.13 pRoVIsIons 
The Agency provides for legal 
or constructive obligations 
that are of uncertain timing or 
amount at the balance sheet 
date on the basis of the best 
estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the 
obligation.  Where the effect 
of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated cash 
flows are discounted using the 
discount rate prescribed by 
HM Treasury.
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1.14 VAlue Added tAX 
Most of the chargeable 
activities undertaken by 
the Agency are outside the 
scope of VAT.  Where output 
tax is charged or input VAT 
is recoverable, the amounts 
are stated net of VAT.  
Irrecoverable VAT is charged 
to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets.  

1.15 seGmentAl 
RepoRtInG
The Agency identifies 
operating segments on the 
basis of internal reports that 
are regularly reviewed by 

the Chief Executive and the 
Board, in order to allocate 
resources to the segments 
and assess their performance.  
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
reports on one single core 
segment which represents 
the principle objective of the 
administration and monitoring 
of bankruptcy in Scotland.

1.16 cAsH And cAsH 
equIVAlents
Cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with 
banks and any other short-
term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities 
of three months or less 

and bank overdrafts.  Any 
bank overdrafts are shown 
within borrowings in current 
liabilities on the balance 
sheet.

1.17 tHIRd pARtY 
Assets
Assets belonging to third 
parties (such as consignation 
and sequestration funds) are 
not recognised in the accounts 
since the Agency has no 
beneficial interest in them.

However, they are disclosed 
in a separate note to the 
accounts in accordance with 
the requirements of the FReM.
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2 stAFF numBeRs And costs
2.1 stAFF numBeRs
The average number of whole time equivalent persons employed (including senior management) 
was as follows:

Branch senior 
management

other 
permanent 

staff

contingent 
Workers and 
Fixed term 

Appointments

staff on 
Inward 

secondment

total 
number
2010/11

total 
number
2009/10

Case 
Operations

1 88.8 7 - 96.8 108.8

Chief 
Executive 
Office

1 2 - - 3 2

Corporate 
Services

3 39.4 2.6 - 45 49.9

Policy 1.6 10.8 0.5 0.9 13.8 12.7

total 6.6 141 10.1 0.9 158.6 173.4

2010/11 2009/10
Average number of disabled 
employees employed in year

6 7

2010/11 2009/10
Average annualised sick days 
for full time equivalent staff

9.9 days 7.4 days

Permanent Agency staff are all Civil Servants employed by the Scottish Government and have 
positive policies in place in relation to disabled employees.  Special facilities are provided where 
necessary.  Every effort is made to comply with equal opportunities legislation.
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2.2 pAYRoll costs
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

Wages and Salaries 3,283 2,948

Social Security Costs 215 188

Other Pension Costs 547 475

Inward Secondments 18 38

Contingent/Fixed Term 
Appointment

156 680

4,219 4,329

Reporting of civil service and other compensation schemes – exit packages

2010/11 2009/10
exit package 
cost Band 
£’000

number of 
compulsory 

Redundancies

number of other 
departures 

agreed

number of 
compulsory 

Redundancies

number of other 
departures 

agreed
< 10 - 1 - -
10-25 - 2 - -
25-50 - 2 - -
total number - 5 - -
total Resource 
cost  (£’000)

- 120 - -

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the 
Civil Service Compensation Scheme, a statutory scheme made under the Superannuation Act 
1972.  Exit costs are accounted for in full in year of departure.  Where the Agency has agreed 
early retirements, the additional costs are met in full by the Agency and not by the Civil Service 
pension scheme.  Ill health retirement costs are met by the pension scheme and are not included 
in the table.
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2.3 pensIons
The Principal Civil Service 
Pension Scheme (PCSPS) is 
an unfunded multi-employer 
defined benefit scheme but 
Accountant in Bankruptcy is 
unable to identify its share 
of the underlying assets 
and liabilities.  The scheme 
actuary valued the scheme 
as at 31 March 2007.  You can 
find details in the resource 
accounts of the Cabinet Office: 
Civil Superannuation (www.
civilservice-pensions.gov.uk).

For 2010/11, employers’ 
contributions of £544k were 
payable to the PCSPS (2009/10 
£473k) at one of four rates in 
the range 16.7% to 24.3% of 
pensionable pay, based on 

salary bands.  The Scheme 
Actuary reviews employer 
contributions usually every 
four years following a full 
scheme valuation.  The 
contribution rates are set to 
meet the cost of the benefits 
accruing during 2010/11 to be 
paid when the member retires 
and not the benefits paid 
during this period to existing 
pensioners.

Employees can opt to open a 
partnership pension account, 
a stakeholder pension with 
an employer contribution.  
Employers’ contributions of 
£3k were paid to one or more 
of the panel of three appointed 
stakeholder pension providers.  

Employer contributions are 
age-related and range from 
3% to 12.5% of pensionable 
pay.  Employers also match 
employee contributions up to 
3% of pensionable pay.  

Contributions due to the 
partnership pension providers 
at the balance sheet date were 
£Nil.  Contributions prepaid at 
that date were £Nil.

2.4 RemuneRAtIon And 
pensIon BeneFIts
Board remuneration and 
pension benefits are contained 
within the Annual Report.

Further details about the 
CSP arrangements can be 
found at the website: www.
civilservice-pensions.gov.uk
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3. eXpendItuRe AnAlYsIs

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

(a) other operating costs
Travel & Subsistence 45 54
Accommodation* 635 666
General Administration 1,295 1,426

1,975 2,146

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

(b) sequestration expenses
Agents Administration Fees 3,534 4,066
Sequestration Outlays 578 336
Edinburgh Gazette 204 349
Legal Fees 769 580

5,085 5,331

2010-11 2009-10
£’000 £’000

(c)  non cash transactions
Depreciation 446 562
Auditors Fees 45 46

491 608

*Included in Accommodation is lease expenditure of £332k for the 2010/11 rental of Accountant 
in Bankruptcy’s Kilwinning Office.
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4. opeRAtInG Income

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

Creditor Petition Fee 813 230
Repayment to Public Purse 4,189 3,832
Debtor Application Fees 912 1,132
Trustee Supervision Fee 1,672 793
Consignations 153 103
Statutory Fees 2,184 1,987
Search Fees 39 59
Debt Arrangement Fees 23 26

9,985 8,162

5. tAnGIBle FIXed Assets

Buildings  
(excluding dwellings)

Furniture, Fittings, 
equipment

It equipment total

cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
At 1 April 2010 952 133 481 1,566
Revaluation 52 - - 52
Additions - - 15 15
Transfers - - - -
Disposals - (21) (347) (368)
At 31 march 2011 1,004 112 149 1,265

depreciation
At 1 April 2010 339 47 471 857
Provided During Year 97 23 (12) 108
Backlog Depreciation 23 - - 23
Disposals - (21) (347) (368)
At 31 march 2011 459 49 112 620

net Book Value
At 31 march 2011 545 63 37 645

At 1 April 2010 613 86 10 709
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Buildings  
(excluding dwellings)

Furniture, Fittings, 
equipment

It equipment total

cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
At 1 April 2009 801 40 494 1,335
Revaluation 29 - - 29
Additions 122 93 5 220
Transfers - - (18) (18)
Disposals - - - -
At 31 march 2010 952 133 481 1,566

depreciation
At 1 April 2009 239 26 370 635
Provided During Year 88 21 101 210
Backlog Depreciation 12 - - 12
Disposals - - - -
At 31 march 2010 339 47 471 857

net Book Value
At 31 march 2010 613 86 10 709

At 1 April 2009 562 14 124 700
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6. IntAnGIBle FIXed Assets

software 
licenses

development 
expenditure

Information 
technology software

total

cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
At 1 April 2010 440 - 1,099 1,539
Additions 9 87 119 215
Disposals (385) - - (385)
Transfers - - - -
At 31 march 2011 64 87 1,218 1,369

Amortisation
At 1 April 2010 351 - 424 775
Provided During Year 70 - 269 339
Disposals (385) - - (385)
At 31 march 2011 36 - 693 729

net Book Value
At 31 march 2011 28 87 525 640
At 1 April 2010 89 - 675 764

software 
licenses

development 
expenditure

Information 
technology software

total

cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
At 1 April 2009 424 344 737 1,505
Additions 16 - - 16
Disposals - - - -
Transfers - (344) 362 18
At 31 march 2010 440 - 1,099 1,539

Amortisation
At 1 April 2009 263 - 161 424
Provided During Year 88 - 263 351
Disposals - - - -
At 31 march 2010 351 - 424 775

net Book Value
At 31 march 2010 89 - 675 764
At 1 April 2009 161 344 576 1,081
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7. tRAde ReceIVABles
Amounts falling due within 1 year

2010/2011 2009/2010
£’000 £’000

(a) Analysis by type
Accrued Income 289 345
Prepayments 355 37
Trade Receivables 430 624
Other Receivables 40 29

1,114 1,035

(b) Intra Government Balances
Balances with Other Central Government Bodies 6 29
Balances with Local Authorities 34 -
Balances with NHS Bodies - -
Balances with Public Corporations & Trading Funds - -
total Intra Government Balances 40 29
Balances with Bodies External to Government 1,074 1,006

1,114 1,035

8. cAsH And cAsH equIVAlents

2010/2011 2009/2010
£’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 2010 968 151
Net Change in Cash Balance 221 817
Balance at 31 march 2011 1,189 968

As all payments and receipts are effected through SEAS, apart from an account used as the 
means for clearing inward payments, no other separate bank account is currently held by the 
Agency other than those held on behalf of third parties as detailed in Note 15.
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9. pAYABles
Amounts Falling due Within one Year

2010/2011 2009/2010
£’000 £’000

Analysis by type
Employee Benefits Accrual 160 171
Other Accruals* 1,625 1,978
Deferred Income 46 7
Trade Payables 4 101
Other Payables 30 14

1,865 2,271

Intra Government Balances
Balances with Other Central Government Bodies 20 14
Balances with Local Authorities - -
Balances with NHS Bodies - -
Balances with Public Corporations & Trading Funds - -
subtotal: Intra Government Balances 20 14

Balances with Bodies External to Government 1,845 2,257
1,865 2,271

Amounts Falling due After one Year
 Deferred Rent 244 260

244 260

*An issue was identified relating to the presentation of deferred rent and the figures have been 
restated to reflect this change. 
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10. moVements In WoRKInG cApItAl otHeR tHAn cAsH

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables (79) 1,159
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables (406) (2)
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 25 (120)

(460) 1,037

11. FInAncIAl InstRuments

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

Financial Assets
Trade Receivables (Note 7) 430 624
Accrued Income (Note 7) 289 345
Other Receivables (Note 7) 40 29
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 8) 1,189 968

1,948 1,966

Financial liabilities
Other Accruals (Note 9) 1,625 1,978
Trade Payables (Note 9) 4 101
Other Payables (Note 9) 30 14

1,659 2,093

non-close embedded derivatives £nil £nil

derivative Financial Instruments £nil £nil
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12. pRoVIsIons FoR lIABIlItIes And cHARGes

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April - 120
Provided 25 -
Reversed/Unutilised - (120)
Balance at 31 march 25 -

Provisions were made in the course of 2010/11 in respect of funding requirements for staff exit 
schemes. See Note 2 for further information. 
 

13. commItments undeR opeRAtInG leAses

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are:

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

land and buildings:
Payable not later than 1 year 369       334 
Payable later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,919 1,336
Payable later than 5 years 1,506 1,865

3,794                3,535
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14. tHIRd pARtY Assets

Assets held at balance sheet date to which monetary value can be assigned:

2010/11 2009/10
£’000 £’000

Monetary Amounts – Sequestration Bank Balances 17,287 20,977
Unclaimed Dividends and Unapplied Balances 21,026 20,843
total monetary Assets 38,313 41,820

These funds are held on behalf of third parties within interest bearing accounts.  This mainly 
comprises of realised assets awaiting repayment to the public purse and distribution to creditors; 
also money consigned in respect of unclaimed dividends and unapplied balances.  These funds 
are mainly held within Royal Bank of Scotland accounts.

Unclaimed dividends and unapplied balances are paid over to the Scottish Consolidated Fund 
after 7 years.  These payments do not form part of the Agency accounts.  During 2010/11 these 
payments amounted to £793K (2009/10 – £496k).

Other assets held at the balance sheet date:

2010/11 2010/11 2010/11 2009/10
No. of assets No. of assets No. of assets No. of assets

In-house Agent/Provider Total Total

Residential Property 163 1,676 1,839 1,679

Life Policies 730 485 1,215 1,191

Motor Vehicles 169 161 330 717

Shares and Other 
Investments

26 201 227 139

Miscellaneous 69 296 365 293

1,157 2,819 3,976 4,019
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15. FInAncIAl/
cApItAl 
commItments
The Agency has entered into 
contracts (which are not 
leases or PFI contracts) for the 
maintenance of IT equipment.  
Under the revised definition 
by the Scottish Government 
of Financial Commitments, 
effective as from 1 April 2008, 
contracts in the normal course 
of business do not require 
disclosure. No contracted 
capital commitments existed 
as at 31 March (2009/10 – £nil). 

16. contInGent 
lIABIlItIes
The Agency has contingent 
liabilities in respect of 
uninsured losses of the assets 
contained within the estates 
that are in sequestration.  
In accordance with the Scottish 
Public Finance Manual (SPFM) 
there is not the requirement to 
either disclose or quantify this 
contingent liability.

17. losses 
stAtement
Notional income, including 
accrued income, on 
sequestration estates not able 
to be recoverable amounted to 
£7.7m (2009/10 – £6.5m), this is 
considered a ‘constructive loss’ 
in line with the Scottish Public 
Finance Manual definition.  
There were no individual 
cases with a constructive loss 
over £250k (2009/10 – nil).  
There were a total of 12,911 
cases (2009/10 – 6,517 cases) 
which incurred some level of 
constructive loss.

18. RelAted pARtY 
tRAnsActIons
Accountant in Bankruptcy is 
an Executive Agency of the 
Scottish Government. During 
the year the Agency had 
various material transactions 
with the Scottish Government. 

None of the senior 
management, or other  
parties related to them,  
has undertaken any material 
transactions with the Agency.

19. pAYments to 
supplIeRs
The Agency complies with 
the Confederation of British 
Industry prompt payment code 
and is committed to the prompt 
payment of bills for goods and 
services received.  Payments 
are normally made as specified 
in the contract.  If there is no 
contractual provision or other 
understanding, they are due 
to be made within 30 days of 
the receipt of the goods and 
services, or the presentation 
of a valid invoice or similar 
demand, whichever is later.  
In 2010/11 the percentage 
of invoices paid on time was 
98.8% (2009/10 – 97.9%).

In line with the Scottish 
Government, Accountant in 
Bankruptcy will look to pay all 
suppliers within 10 days.  In 
2010/11 this was achieved 97% 
of the time (2009/10 – 89%). 
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20. post BAlAnce 
sHeet eVents
There were no significant post 
balance sheet events.

21. AudIt
Under the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000, the Auditor General 
for Scotland is responsible 
for appointing the external 
auditors of the Agency.  For 
the years 2006/07 to 2010/11 
Audit Scotland has been 
appointed to carry out the 
Agency audit and the notional 
fee for this service in 2010/11 
was £45k (2009/10 – £47k), 
which relates solely to the 
provision of statutory audit 
services.  No payments were 
made to Audit Scotland 
other than in respect of the 
statutory audit.
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dIRectIon BY tHe  
scottIsH mInIsteRs

1.  The statement of accounts 
for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2006 and 
subsequent years shall 
comply with the accounting 
principles and disclosure 
requirements of the 
edition of the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) which is in force 
for the year for which the 
statement of accounts  
are prepared.

2.  The accounts shall be 
prepared so as to give a 
true and fair view of the 
income and expenditure, 
recognised gains and 
losses, and cash flows  
for the financial year,  
and of the state of affairs  
as at the end of the 
financial year.

3.  This direction shall be 
reproduced as an appendix 
to the statement of 
accounts.  The direction 
given on 28 March 2003  
is hereby revoked.  

signed by the authority of the 
scottish ministers

dated 17 January 2006

AccountAnt In BAnKRuptcY

dIRectIon BY tHe scottIsH mInIsteRs
in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000
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HoW to contAct us

0300 200 2600

0300 200 2600

0300 200 2600

0300 200 2600

0300 200 2600

0300 200 2600

0300 200 2600

0300 200 2600

Accountant in Bankruptcy
1 pennyburn Road
Kilwinning
Ayrshire
KA13 6sA

lp-4 KIlWInnInG

telephone
0300 200 2600

Fax
0300 200 2601

Helpline
0300 200 2777
for general advice or queries 
on the sequestration process 
and trust deeds in scotland

Website
www.aib.gov.uk 
for advice on the administration 
of the sequestration process  
in scotland
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